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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”)
"Directors”) of Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the
“Group”), | would like to present the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 (the "Reporting

Period”).

of directors (the

We are a well-recognised auction house of Chinese and
Japanese artworks in Hong Kong and Japan. We specialise in
auctioneering a wide variety of artworks with emphasis on
Chinese and Japanese artworks, including Chinese paintings
and calligraphies, Chinese antiques and Japanese and Chinese
teawares. With over ten years of operating experience in the
Chinese and Japanese art auction industry, we have grown into
a well-recognised and trusted auction brand in Hong Kong and
Japan, through our “Tokyo Chuo Auction” brand. By offering
appealing auction artworks and quality auction services, we
have successfully gained recognition from our customers and
market position, brand name and
competitiveness. We take pride in being an auction house with
the ability to explore and introduce the historical and cultural
significance as well as the commercial value of each artwork.

established our

AANBRERRETRP\ELEBRERAB(H
A8 ZEREMBRARAELSIFREDES
(B2 ((EFE)IREAQAHEE2023F
3ANBLESE((REHBDOHFERS
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kP ARE - BRETBERBAAEMRAE
TEBEBTFNZELR AMNEEBIER
PRBEINME BRASETERBXRE
XRAMEENRERE - RIAVRERE‘EAR
SIMHEEMMAREENHERY K&
BEFPHRA - ML E M HHHA -
BRBENBEFES R —HENKRRLIER
BHEMRELXLEELBEXEENHE
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Over the past year, the Group took appropriate actions to
improve our operations through different ways, including but
not limited to, (i) adopting and utilising professional as well as
history-focused and culture-oriented marketing techniques along
with quality services to maximise the transaction prices of our
auctioned artworks; (ii) further strengthening our market
position and market share in the Chinese and Japanese art
auction market in Hong Kong and Japan, and enhancing our
brand recognition and awareness; (iii) diversifying our business
scope by venturing into the field of contemporary artwork and
fine & rare whisky and moutai; (iv) recruiting high calibre
managers and experts and attracting, motivating and retaining
quality employees to strengthen both the management and
operating teams with a view to support sustainable growth;
and (v) targeting to expand business footprint to other
potential markets with an aim to establish and enhance brand
image and brand influence in other major Asian cities and the
global market.

Chairman'’s Statement
FEmE
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Chairman'’s Statement

EFEME

|

PROSPECTS Bl &=

In view of the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic since early ECOVID-19KRTTHR2020F #1EEE LA - 2K
2020, the global economy and the financial markets in Hong &BEUREFDS B ARKPEARLFE ([
Kong, Japan and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") B WM HINATHBE - EFERAE 2
remain uncertain. The Board considered that such significant HREEN SR T SEINBREZEYH T HE
impact on the global economy and financial markets had flf@MHEMRTFFE - AEETADAHNTIES
adversely affected the market of Chinese and Japanese HK -« BiRAEEBEEKL  UERBEMHAIAE
artworks, specific for unpredictability in the market demand, THHEEER -KMAEESBERMANHESEE
value and conditions for artworks and development of art & AZ|E MR M7 R IRE B - NE B IR E I
auction market in general. We are aspiring to diversify our #MENRERFXHGENEEFAETFEaNEE"
business scope into the field of contemporary artworks and ZERERZFERERBE - B4 F o WRAHTIM -
jewelry. The Group also seized the opportunity to accelerate ABEABREXREFHNZIESHEEH - R
the formation of its online system and online auction platform, &R EXSHMENFE - L‘X&ﬁiiﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁi
so as to keep up with the current developing trend, integrate G M ERE LB - RPN EKHEZ S
platforms and upgrade its technology to bring new experience 1t - Al :EARSEERE B ATAI XS - IHZE%
of multi-scenario auction for all collectors. The development of it JiE ¥ 3T Hi &9 A< B T HEE 1 ©

online trading and information platform and diversifying our

business scope by venturing into the field of contemporary

artwork and jewelry allow the Group to expand its current

business and provide more flexibility to cope with the economic

uncertainty in the near future.
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Moreover, in order to promptly extend our coverage in other
key regions in terms of Asian artworks, we started planning for
a joint consignments tour with our industry peers based in
Taiwan during the Reporting Period. In the future, the Group
will aim at keeping stable growth and development,
continuously uphold its principle of sourcing excellent artworks
for art enthusiasts in the artwork auction market. The Group
will constantly enrich the categories of auction lots to fulfill the
diversified preferences of the collectors. At the same time, the
management will also keep an eye on the opportunities to
cooperation with other auction companies with a view to
developing our business more rapidly.

and

Lastly, on behalf of the Board and the management, | would
like to express my sincere gratitude to all the staff for their
unremitting efforts during the year and to all the shareholders
of the Company (“Shareholders”),
business partners for their continuous support for the Group.

investors, clients and

Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited
Ando Shokei
Chairman

29 June 2023

Chairman'’s Statement
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB W E T

In view of the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic since the
early 2020, the global economy and the financial markets in
Hong Kong, Japan and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
remain uncertain. The Board considered that such significant
impact on the global economy and financial markets had
adversely affected the market of Chinese and Japanese
artworks, specifically on the unpredictability in the market
demand,
development of art auction market in general. We aspire to
diversify our business scope into the field of contemporary
artworks and jewelry, as (1) we believe there would be a large
potential demand for jewelry or contemporary artworks by our
existing customers, and (2) there is an increasing market
demand on jewelry and contemporary artworks in the industry.

the value and conditions for artworks and

During the Reporting Period, the Group obtained satisfactory
results in each auction session, with an aggregate of 4,531
pieces of auction lots launched in the 5 auctions in Hong Kong
and Japan. A total of 2,394 pieces were successfully sold,
representing a success rate of 52.8%
aggregate hammer price of approximately HK$67.5 million and
JPY2,516.1 million in Hong Kong and Japan, respectively. The
Group is actively developing other new auction segments,
specially jewelry and contemporary artworks to increase the
number and sources of customers and pursue new business
opportunities.

and achieved an
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PROSPECTS AND FUTURE PLAN

The Group has been growing since its establishment and during
the Reporting Period. Through its successful Listing in 2018, the
Group has been expanding itself as a pioneering corporate with
emphasis on artworks auction, expanding from Japan to the
entire Asia. At present, it has established footholds in major
cities in Asia with its business expanding from Tokyo to Hong
Kong and Taiwan. Moreover, in order to promptly increase its
coverage in other key regions in terms of the Asian artworks
and become one of the international
houses with Chinese and Japanese art auction business in the
future, the Group has actively explored potential customers and
consolidated its competitive strengths in order to broaden its
network in the collection community and facilitate the growth
of its auction business. In addition, the Group’s marketing and
brand promotion activities are integral parts of its effort to gain
acclaim and build its reputation among the high net worth

well-known auction

individuals in the Asia-Pacific region, which successfully
strengthened the brand image of the Group and raised its
brand awareness. Further raising the Group’s brand awareness

is the key to the success of its future development.

In the future, the Group aims at maintaining stable growth and
development, and continuously uphold its principle of sourcing
excellent artworks with good provenance to explore and collect
more valuable artworks for art enthusiasts in the artwork
auction market. The Group will allocate more resources to
develop its online auction platform, jewelry and contemporary
artworks segments to diversify its auction channel and jewelry,
which allow the Group to expand its current business and
provide more flexibility to cope with the economic uncertainty
in the near future. At the same time, it shall keep looking for
apposite business partners for collaboration in auction events.
Meanwhile, the management will also cooperate with other
auction companies and consider making strategic investments in
artworks related business, which would help the Group achieve
synergies.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B2 8 R D

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of the Group was
approximately HK$72.8 million (2022: approximately HK$79.6
million), which represents a decrease of approximately HK$6.8
million or 8.5% as compared to the same period in 2022.
Revenue from art auction and related business was
approximately HK$59.9 million (2022: approximately HK$78.1
million), while revenue from artwork sales was approximately
HK$12.9 million (2022: approximately HK$1.5 million). Such
decrease in revenue from art auction and related business for
the Reporting Period was mainly due to the uncertainty in the
global economy and the financial markets which has adversely
affected the market of Chinese and Japanese artworks, in
particular, the unpredictability in the market demand, value and
conditions for artworks and development of art auction market
in general.

Gross profit

During the Reporting Period, gross profit of the Group
decreased by approximately HK$15.7 million or 22.8% to
approximately HK$53.3 million (2022: approximately HK$69.0
million) as compared to the same period in 2022, which was in
line with the decrease in revenue from art auction and related
business. The overall gross profit margin was approximately
73.2% for the Reporting Period (2022: 86.6%). The decrease
was mainly due to the decrease in revenue from art auction
related business which was partially offset by the increase in
costs of sales of goods as a result of the increase in revenue
from artwork sales. The gross profit margins were
approximately 86.9% (2022: 87.8%) for art auction and related
business and approximately 10.3% (2022: 25.1%) for artwork
sales respectively.

Other loss — net

Other losses of approximately HK$1.7 million mainly
represented the fair value loss on financial asset at FVTPL for
the Reporting Period (2022: loss of approximately HK$3.3
million mainly represented the fair value loss on financial asset
at FVTPL).
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Other income

Other income of approximately HK$1.5 million mainly
represented government grant received, compensation received,
bidding deposits forfeited and penalties recognised during the
Reporting Period (2022: approximately HK$1.4 million mainly
represented compensation received, sales tax refunded, bidding
deposits forfeited and penalties recognised).

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses consisted primarily of
employee benefit expenses paid to the Group's sales and
marketing staff,
consultancy fee paid, transportation costs, travelling expenses,
entertainment and business hospitality expenses. During the
Reporting Period, (2022:
approximately HK$20.4 million) of selling and distribution
incurred, representing a increase of
approximately HK$4.5 million as compared to the same period
in 2022, mainly due to the
transportation costs, advertising and promotion expenses for the
Reporting Period.

advertising and promotion expenses,

approximately HK$24.9 million
expenses were

which was increase in

Administrative expense

Administrative expenses mainly represented employee benefit
expenses, travelling expenses, rental expenses and depreciation.
During the Reporting Period, administrative expenses decreased
by approximately 6.3% to approximately HK$34.3 million (2022:
approximately HK$36.6 million). Such decrease in administrative
expenses was mainly due to the decrease in amortisation of
intangible assets and depreciation for the Reporting Period.

Finance costs — Net

The Group recorded finance costs of approximately HK$861,000
(2022: finance costs amounted to approximately HK$425,000)
for the Reporting Period. Finance income mainly represented
interest income from bank deposit and interest income from
certain consignor advance, and finance costs mainly represented
interest expenses on bank and other borrowings and interest
expenses on lease liabilities.

Management Discussion and Analysis

BB AT
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B2 8 R D

Income tax credit/(expense)

Profits tax has been provided for by the Group’s companies in
both Hong Kong and Japan at the applicable rate on the
estimated assessable profits. Income tax credit for the Reporting
Period included the current tax charged of approximately
HK$28,000 and deferred tax credit of approximately
HK$225,000 (2022: income tax expense of approximately
HK$4.8 million and deferred tax credit of approximately HK$1.4
million).

(Loss)/Profit attributable to owners of the Company

During the Reporting Period, the Company recorded a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$8.3 million (2022: profits attributable to owners of the
Company approximately HK$8.4 million), which was mainly due
to the decrease in revenue from art auction and related
business and increase in impairment loss on financial assets for

the Reporting Period.

Consignors advance

For the consignor advances as at 31 March 2023 and
31 March 2022, the total principal amount was approximately
HK$53.2 million (31 March 2022: HK$49.3 million) and the
total outstanding principal was approximately HK$51.7 million
(31 March 2022: HK$47.8 million), only one of the consignor
advance was granted with interest rate of 1% per annum and
the rest of the advances was granted at nil interest rate
(31 March 2022: three of consignor advances were granted
with interest rate of 1% to 12% per annum and the rest of
the advances was granted at nil interest rate). During the year
ended 31 March 2023, the consignor advances was granted to
22 consignors and all of them were either corporate or
individual
granted to the consignors after the collateral (which is the
consigned artwork) has been obtained by the Group and the
consigned artwork should be proposed to sell in subsequent
auctions, which mutually agreed by consignors and the Group
(normally within one year). To the best of the knowledge,
information and belief of the Directors, all the consignors and
their ultimate beneficial owners are third parties independent of
the Company and the connected persons of the Company.

art collectors. The consignor advance was only
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As at 31 March 2023, the outstanding amount of consignor
advances due from the largest consignor and five largest
consignors accounted for approximately 20.0% and 67.6% of
the total outstanding amount of consignor advances of the
Group respectively (31 March 2022: the largest consignor and
five largest consignors accounted for approximately 24.0% and
74.5% respectively).

In order to attract appealing artworks from artwork providers
with long-term relationship and good credit history, during the
year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Company has
provided certain consignors with consignor advances carrying
interest accruing on such consignor advances at nil or low
interest rates. Under the consignment arrangement, the
relevant consignor advances with interests payable (if any) shall
be deducted from sales proceeds of the consigned artwork after
receiving the full payment of the purchase price from the
auction, or in case if the Company failed to sell the consigned
artwork at the auction, the consigned artwork shall be returned
to the consignor after obtaining full repayment of the
consignor advances with accrued interest (if any) from the
relevant artwork provider. The business of the Group heavily
relies on the artworks provided by these artwork providers and
therefore the provision of such advance is for the benefit of the
Group’s business and not merely for the purpose of earning
interest income.

When determining the grant of consignor advances, the Group
would initially assess the background of the artwork and the
consignors by the taking into factors including (i) obtaining the
personal information of the consignor and conduct available
public search on the background of the consignor when
necessary; (i) the proposed value of the artwork and collateral
offered by the consignor; (iii)) the length of business
relationship between the Group and the consignor; and (iv) the
creditability of the consignor based on the credit history of the
consignor.

When determining any impairments made in respect of the
consignor advances, the management assessed the expected
losses individually by estimation based on general economic
conditions of the consignor advance provided and the value of
relevant consigned artwork and conditions at the reporting
date. Since the fair value amounts of the consigned artwork
were higher than the carrying amounts of consigner advance in
during the years, therefore, no impairment were recorded.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL POSITION AND LIQUIDITY

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated resources, banking facilities and net proceeds from
the listing (the “Listing”) of the Company’s shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange. As at 31 March 2023, the Group
had current assets of the approximately HK$444.8 million (as at
31 March 2022: approximately HK$550.0 million) while the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$67.3 million (as at 31 March 2022: approximately HK$108.7
million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has interest-bearing bank
borrowings of approximately HK$49.3 million (as at 31 March
2022: approximately HK$59.9 million) and of which
approximately HK$18.6 million (as at 31 March 2022:
approximately HK$21.1 million) was repayable within one year.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have other
borrowings.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's gearing ratio was calculated
on the basis of the amount of interest-bearing borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents divided by shareholders’ equity, and
the Group was in net cash position (as at 31 March 2022: net
cash position).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no any material capital
commitment (as at 31 March 2022: Nil). As at the date of this
report, the Group had no plan for material investment or
capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND GUARANTEES
As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not provide any
guarantees for any third party and had no significant
contingent liabilities (as at 31 March 2022: Nil).
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
The Group did not hold any material investments, nor did the
Group made any material
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company during the
Reporting Period.

acquisition and disposal of

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopted a prudent strategy towards the treasury
and funding policies, and attached high importance to the risk
control and transactions directly related to the Group's principal
business. Funds, primarily denominated in Japanese Yen and
Hong Kong dollars, are normally placed with banks in short or
medium term deposits for working capital of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FOREIGN CURRENCY
EXPOSURE

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operation was mainly
financed by funds generated from its operation, borrowings
and net proceeds from the Listing. As at 31 March 2023, the
borrowings of the Group and the cash and cash equivalents
held by the Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Japanese Yen. All of the Group’s borrowings were
floating rate borrowings and were pledged by bank deposits of
approximately HK$4.0 million to secure such bank facilities
during the Reporting Period. The Group’s revenue is mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Japanese Yen, while its
costs and expenses are also mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Japanese Yen. As the majority of the Group’s
assets, liabilities, revenues and payments during the Reporting
Period were denominated in either Hong Kong dollars or
Japanese Yen, and in view of the prevailing macro-economic
environment, the Group may be exposed to the foreign
exchange rate risk. Currently, the Group does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. The Group will closely monitor
the volatility of foreign exchange rate and apply the
appropriate hedging strategy as and when appropriate.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B2 8 R D

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, bank deposits amounting to HK$4.0
million (2022: HK$4.0 million) was pledged to a bank to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group.

Other than the aforesaid pledged bank deposits, there was no
other charge on assets of the Group as at 31 March 2023
(2022: Nil).

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 21, 19, 1 and 1 full-time
staff based in Japan, Hong Kong, Taiwan and the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC") respectively. The Group’'s
remuneration packages are generally structured with reference
to market terms and individual merits. The Group operates a
defined contribution retirement benefits scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ base salaries. The Group also made contributions to
provident funds, elderly
unemployment insurance and work-related injury insurance in

insurance, medical insurance,
accordance with applicable laws and regulations in Japan,
Taiwan and the PRC respectively. The Group has adopted a
share option scheme on 13 September 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”) as a
employees and to attract similar high-quality personnel that are
valuable to the Group. No share options have been granted

under the Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period.

reward to eligible high-calibre

On 24 April 2023, 48,000,000 share options were granted to
certain Director, senior managements and employees of the
Group, as disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 24 April 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Ando Shokei (ZEMEE) (alias Liao Zianggui (EEH#E)),
aged 55

Executive Director and chairman of the Board

Mr. Ando is an executive Director and chairman of the Board
and is responsible for overall strategic development, and
leading the business development of the Group. He was
appointed as a Director on 11 July 2013 and re-designated as
executive Director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Ando is the founder of
the Group. He has over 10 years of experience in operation
and management in the business of artwork trading and over
20 years of experience in operation and management of
auction. He joined the Group in November 2010 as a director
of Tokyo Chuo Auction Co., Ltd.* (A EHR AP RF—T >
32) (“TCA Japan”), a directly non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company in Japan. Mr. Ando is also a director of Bai
Sheng Co., Ltd.* (¥ =\ & #£ & B5) (“Bai Sheng") since
September 2002, where he acquired knowledge in artworks
through artwork trading businesses, gained his experience in
daily company operations management, businesses development
promotion and development strategies planning, and started
developing his business relationships with artwork artists,
masters, experts, merchants and collectors. Prior to working at
Bai Sheng, Mr. Ando worked at Orient Co., Ltd.* (fk N &7
IJT >N, a trading company in arts and crafts and home
furniture import and export, from 1995 to 2001 as general
manager. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
Dokkyo University in March 1994. Mr. Ando is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Ando is the spouse of
Mrs. Ando Eri. Mr. Ando has an interest in such number of
Shares under Part XV of the SFO as disclosed in the section
headed “Report of the Directors — Directors’ and chief
executive's interests and short positions in the shares
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations” of this annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Mrs. Ando Eri (£ fEEEE) (alias Feng Huijin (/% & %)),
aged 45
Executive Director and vice chairlady of the Board

Mrs. Ando is an executive Director and vice chairlady of the
Board, and is responsible for client management, promotion of
branding and marketing of the Group. She was appointed as
an executive Director on 25 May 2018. She has over 10 years
of experience in operation and management of auction.
Mrs. Ando joined the Group in January 2011 as a managing
director, and she was involved in establishing and managing
client relationships. She was promoted to director of the board
of TCA Japan in December 2011, and since then she has been
principally responsible for conducting marketing events,
overseeing and reviewing the auction catalogs and media
publications, as well as the overall management of auctions
held by the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mrs. Ando
worked at a catering company in the PRC, from 2000 to 2005
as general manager, responsible for overall management and
operations of such company. She completed a course in foreign
secretary at the Adult Higher Education, School of Continuing
Education, Shanghai Jiao Tong University* (E/&R B AKEE® KA
) in July 2000. Mrs. Ando is also a director of TCA Japan.
Mrs. Ando is the spouse of Mr. Ando Shokei. Mrs. Ando has an
interest in such number of Shares under Part XV of the SFO as
disclosed in the section headed “Report of the Directors —
Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations” of this annual report.
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Mr. Katsu Bunkai (B X /) (alias Ge Wenhai), aged 53
Executive Director and chief operating officer of the Group

Mr. Katsu is an executive Director and chief operating officer of
the Group, and is responsible for the overall operational
management of the Group. He was appointed as an executive
Director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Katsu has over 10 years of
experience in operation in the business of artwork trading and
over 8 years of experience in operation and management of
auction. Mr. Katsu joined the Group and was appointed as a
director and vice-president of TCA Japan since February 2012,
and since then he has been principally responsible for the
planning and supervising auctions of the Group, including
managing auction logistics and different working parties such as
decoration companies, security and staff of different
departments of the Group during auctions. He is also involved
in overall strategic development and management of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Katsu was also the sales
manager of Bai Sheng, responsible for artworks purchase and
sales and operations management, from April 2010 to October
2015. He obtained a master’s degree in business administration
from Kanto Gakuin University in March 2008.

Mr. Sun Hongyue (¥ /7 A), aged 58

Executive Director

Mr. Sun is an executive Director, and is responsible for overall
business development of the Group. He was appointed as an
executive Director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Sun has over 30 years
of experience in artwork trading and over 20 years of
experience in auction. Mr. Sun joined the Group in December
2015. He has been the general manager of the calligraphy and
painting department of TCA Japan since December 2015,
during which he was involved in authenticating artworks for
auction, visiting consignors and approaching potential
consignors for auction of artworks, and providing consultation
to potential bidders and buyers of artwork.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Sun worked at Beijing Hanhai
Auction Co., Ltd* (tRBEMEFR A A),
company, from 1994 to 2015 and gained experience in
calligraphy and painting, auction and artwork trading. Prior to
such, Mr. Sun worked at Beijing Antique Company* (1t 2= 11 XX
Y12 8]) from 1984 to 1994 and was mainly responsible for
sourcing and sale of artworks. He was an apprentice of Mr. Qin
Gong (& 72), a renowned Chinese stone rubbing calligraphy
expert, and trained his skills of authentication and valuation of
paintings and calligraphies at Qing Yun Tang (BEZE %), a
reputable store in Beijing engaging in the sales of Chinese
calligraphies from 1984 to 1994. In 1986, Mr. Sun completed a
course in cultural relics authentication and valuation organized
by the State Administration of Cultural Heritage of PRC (-
Bl R X ¥ B) in Xi'an, Shaanxi province, the PRC. During 1989
to 1991, he completed a three-year program in museology at a
sub-school of Peking University.

an auction

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John ($ZE7 i), aged 54

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chung is an independent non-executive Director. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018. Mr. Chung has over 20 years of
experience in auditing, corporate finance and financial
management. Mr. Chung was an auditor in Arthur Andersen
(an international accounting firm) from 1992 to 1999. From
2000, Mr. Chung has held several senior management positions
including chief financial officer, executive director and
independent non-executive director in a number of listed
companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is presently a vice
president of Yongsheng Advanced Materials Company Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3608) since February 2018. Mr. Chung has been
the independent non-executive director of four other companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, namely B & S
International Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1705) since February
2018; BYD Electronic (International) Company Limited (stock
code: 0285) since June 2013; YTO International Express and
Supply Chain Technology Limited (“formerly known as YTO
Express (International) Holdings Limited) (stock code: 6123)
since December 2017; and Zhengye International Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 3363) since March 2011.
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Mr. Chung obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
Macquarie University in April 1992. He was admitted as a
certified practicing accountant of the Australian Society of
Certified Practicing Accountants (currently known as CPA
Australia) in November 1995 and an associate of the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in February
1996. He is currently a non-practicing member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley (#i# %), aged 56

Independent non-executive Director

Ms. Lam is an independent non-executive Director. She was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018. Ms. Lam has over 20 years of experience
in auditing, accounting and financial management. Ms. Lam has
been appointed as the chief financial officer of Chinlink
International Holdings Limited (“Chinlink”), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0997),
since January 2012. She was the executive director and
company secretary of Chinlink from February 2012 and January
2012 respectively, to April 2019; and the executive director of
Jackin International Holdings Limited (currently known as AMCO
United Holding Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 630) from February 2010 to
December 2011. Ms. Lam held several management position in
private companies, including vice president of finance and
accounting manager, between June 1999 to February 2006 and
between July 2006 to March 2007. She also held position in
various international audit firms between May 1993 and April
1999.

Ms. Lam obtained a bachelor’s degree in science from Murdoch
University in February 1993 and a master’'s degree in business
administration from the University of Adelaide in April 2006.
She was admitted as a certified practising accountant of the
Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants (currently
known as CPA Australia) in November 1995 and an associate of
the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in
September 1996. She is currently a non-practicing member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEAEEEBENRBESS

EBAEMINFAATCEEERENELES
B+ o HMM1995F 11 AERMNETMAE
RABREGTAIRRI996F2AK AR LS
EAEMEE - HERATESHAMAEH
JEMEEE o

HiHEL 1 565%

BUIHHITEFE

MLt ABBILIEHNITESE - HR2018F9A13
AEZEARB YN TES MLLTHEBB
06 EZ St KM BERLR - xR
202F 1 AREZEREERSHBKIERBR
NA((EEPE)(—KRBZFMER LT
NAE BRMHARIR 097N EETBE - o
B 20124928 %2012 818 £ B £2019F4 A8
AEEFEMATEERARWE  kH2010
F2AR01MNFNABHHABYREEEBR
AR (BAHEERERAERAR  — KRBT
TR ETHRA  RORK : 630) HEAITE
E - MZETBELARBEELEETEEMA -
B HE 199946 A 200692 A N 200647 A
Z2007F3AMEFRIMBRA R G EE -
1% IR 2 199345 A = 19994 A 5> A~ [/ 4y B B
ZEENITER -

M ERI1993F2A A IBEREMFEEL L
7 R FA2006F4 A EMEHRBEAZREIEE
IBEE A o HAE1995%11 A RN &6
NRERAABNESEE - WE1996F9IA K A
ERESHMAENEE - HRKEEBSEAD
NERFREEE -

ERARHEERARAR T _=FFERS 21



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERERERENEESRRE

Mr. Chun Chi Man (£F;8ER), aged 62
Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chun is an independent non-executive Director. He was
appointed as an
13 September 2018. Mr. Chun has over 20 years of experience
in property industry in PRC and Hong Kong. Mr. Chun has
been the independent non-executive director of CN Logistics
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 2130) since September
2020. Mr. Chun has been the General Manager (Leasing) of
Century Link from March 2015 to December 2016, the General
Manager — commercial of The Hub at Hong Qiao from
January 2014 to November 2014, the General Manager of L
Development & Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from
September 2010 to December 2013, the Deputy General
Manager of Lai Fung Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 1125) from
September 2007 to July 2010. Mr. Chun held various
managerial positions at Hutchison Whampoa Properties Limited
from July 1995 to July 2005. Mr. Chun obtained a bachelor’s
degree of Science from University of Salford at July 1987. He is
a member of Shanghai Chongming District Committee
(Consultative Conference).

independent non-executive Director on

Senior management

Mr. Chen Jian (B% &), aged 49

Artwork management manager of the Group

Mr. Chen is the artwork management manager of the Group.
He joined the Group in June 2012. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Chen worked at the marketing department
state-owned company in the PRC, responsible for conducting
market research and formulating marketing strategies. Mr. Chen
completed a course in applied science from Qingdao Institute of
Chemical Industry* (& &1t T E£BZ) (now known as Qingdao
University of Science & Technology* (& &R A 2)) in July
1996 and a bachelor’s degree in international economy from
Higashi Nippon International University in March 2005. He
further obtained a master’s degree in international business
from Kanto Gakuin University in March 2008.

in a
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Mr. Koizumi Jumpei (/R B F), aged 33

Tea wares and Chinese ceramics artwork manager of the Group
Mr. Koizumi is the teawares and Chinese ceramics artwork
manager of the Group. He joined the Group in April 2013. He
has over six years of experience in artworks management. Prior

to joining the Group, from April 2011 to March 2013,
Mr. Koizumi assisted his family in running Koizumi Ancient Art,
Kyoto* (S #B & ET/\ &), an antique shop with over 17 years
of operation including teawares, and
acquired knowledge and experience in authentication and
valuation of Japanese and non-Japanese teawares through
purchasing and selling teawares and exchanging views on

in selling antiques

authentication and valuation of teawares with teaware experts.
Since joining the Group in 2013, through application of the
experiences in teawares previously accumulated during his days
in Koizumi Ancient Art, Kyoto* (FR#B@ 41/ &) and frequent
participation in our auctions, Mr. Koizumi further enriched his
experience in valuation of artworks by reviewing the appraisal
and auction results of multiple artworks and exchanging views
on market price and industry trend of the artworks with other
artwork experts. Mr. Koizumi obtained a bachelor’s degree in
biology-oriented business and technology from Kindai University
in March 2011.
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Mr. Chak Chi Shing (Z& ), aged 42
Chief financial officer and company secretary of the Company
Mr. Chak is responsible for the corporate finance, investor

relations, financial
matters of the Company. He joined the Group in September
2019. Mr. Chak is also a director of CGU Enterprises Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Chak has been
the independent non-executive director of SDM Education
Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as SDM Group
Holdings Limited) (“SDM"), a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8363) since May 2019, the
independent non-executive director of Link-Asia International
MedTech Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1143) since June 2021, the
independent non-executive director of Sunyes Manufacturing
(Zhe Jiang) Holding Co. Ltd.* (stock code: 002388), a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange since February 2023
and the independent non-executive director of Founder
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 0418) since June 2023. Prior to
joining the Company, he was the executive director of China

management and company secretarial

Shenghai Food Holdings Company Limited (currently known as
China Shenghai Group Limited), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1676), from
December 2018 to September 2019; the company secretary of
Bolina Holding Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange prior to its delisting on 10 March 2021
(stock code: 1190), from March 2017 to August 2018, and the
chief financial officer and company secretary of SDM from
February 2016 to July 2016.

He obtained a bachelor’'s degree of commerce in Accounting
and Finance from Curtin University of Technology in March
2006. He is a certified public accountant of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and Certified Public
Accountant Australia. Mr. Chak has over 15 years of experience
in auditing, corporate finance and financial
management and over three years of experience in company
secretarial matter listed

accounting,

and corporate governance in
companies.

24 TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023

EEBTE  225%

KRG FEAEER A&
BEEBERARGNLERE  KREEBE -
MBEBERARWESEE - £ 52019697 1IN
AREER - BEETABERRNZENB R A
CGU Enterprises Limitedf) ZE = - 2% £ B
20195 A 8 ASDMH B £ BT R B R A 7] (AT
fESDM Group Holdings Limited)([ SDM |+ —
KRB RZ FIGEM E T A 2 A B 5 R 55
8363) A IFHITESE - B2021F6 AR AR
THEREERMBEEBR QA (— KRB
IRETMHRAE RO 1143) B IE
WMITES  H2023F2A B A ERRE CRIT)
BERAB(—RRFVNBHER G LETHR
Al BRI RSE  002388) B IEMITEE R
H2023F6 A A EIERAER AR (—RAH
REFER ETHAF - RMHNKIK : 0418) BB
MIEHITESE c EMAKRRARZA - HH2018
FI2ARE201959FEHFBABRMIERAER
ARI(RBAPEASEBEERAF  — RN
BERFTER ETA AR BRHARKE - 1676) B
EHMITES : R2017F3A E2018F8 A EMIZ
TAE AR AR (—RKHA20214E3 8108 B ERTR
BERFTER ETA AR BRH AR - 1190) B
ERARME: KMN2016F2H £20165F7H A
SDMH) B F 4B BE K N B FUE o

% 72006538 B B & F £ K Z(Curtin
University of Technology)BR 13 & st 14 &t (75
BEEELTEMN - FABFESHMASRB
MEFTM RSN MESEAD - BEERNET -
i PEREMVBEETABEEAISFL
BERETARNARMEEERCEENS
FHBEESB-FER-



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that high corporate
governance standards are essential in providing a framework
for the Group to safeguard the interests of Shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and
policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (as applicable to the Group during the
Reporting Period) (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with all code
provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by its Directors. Having made
specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that they have
fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code during the Reporting Period.

The Company has also extended the coverage of the Model
Code adoption to the senior management of the Company
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company (the “relevant employees”). No
incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company during the Reporting
Period.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company. The Board has delegated the
day-to-day responsibility to the executive Directors and senior
management who perform their duties under the leadership of
the chairman of the Board.

The Board currently consists of four executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Ando Shokei (chairman of the Board), Mrs. Ando Eri (vice
chairlady of the Board), Mr. Katsu Bunkai and Mr.
Hongyue; and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley
and Mr. Chun Chi Man.

Sun

The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui) (Chairman)
Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin)

Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai)

Mr. Sun Hongyue

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley

Mr. Chun Chi Man

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 17 to 24 of this annual report.

Other than the spousal relationship between Mr. Ando Shokei
and Mrs. Ando Eri, none of the members of the Board is
related to one another.

Chairman

The position of chairman is held by Mr. Ando Shokei,
provides responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board.

who
leadership and s
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his/her independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Term of directors

Each of the Directors entered into a service contract and/or
letters of appointment with the Company on 13 September
2018 with an initial term of three years which shall be renewed
and extended automatically for successive terms of one year
upon expiry of the then current term and may be terminated
by either party by giving not less than three month’s written
notice.

The term of the service contracts and the letters of
appointment may be renewed subject to the provisions of the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”) and the
applicable Listing Rules. Under the Articles, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one third) shall retire from office
by rotation. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for
re-election.

Responsibilities of the directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company, and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board
directly,
provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

and indirectly through its committees, leads and
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. All Directors have full and timely
access to all the information of the Company and may, upon
request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances for discharging their duties to the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

Continuous professional development of directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.
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The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing
professional development to develop and refresh knowledge
and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be
arranged and reading materials on relevant topics would be
provided to Directors where appropriate. All directors also
understand the importance of continuous professional
development and they are committed to participating any
suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills.

During the Reporting Period, each of the Directors has attended
training courses or seminars or read materials relevant to his/
her professional and/or duties as Director. The individual
training record of each Director received for the Reporting
Period is summarised below:
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Executive Directors BITEESE
Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui) THEORELEE (RBBEME) — v
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Board committees
The Board has established four committees, namely the Audit

Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All
Board committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with their
authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee are posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are

available to Shareholders upon request.

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held three board
meetings and one general meeting. The attendance record of
each Director at these meetings is set out in the table below:
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Attended/eligible to attend

2 fEK2H
Board
meetings AGM
EEEE;: BREBEXE
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui) THEEMELE(XBEME) 3/3 1/1
Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin) THEEEZT (XA E5EE) 3/3 11
Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai) EXBEAE 3/3 1/1
Mr. Sun Hongyue BB AEAE 3/3 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIFEHITESE
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John 3B A 3/3 1/1
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley MO IS 2 & 3/3 1/1
Mr. Chun Chi Man ZaR%E 3/3 171
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Audit Committees

The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley
(chairlady), Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John and Mr. Chun Chi Man.
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley, chairlady of the Audit Committee,
possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the CG Code.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
duties of the Audit Committee include, without limitation, (a)
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal; (b) monitoring the integrity of the financial
statements and annual report and accounts, and the interim
report, and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
contained therein; (c) reviewing the financial control, risk
management and internal control systems; and (d) developing
and policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board.

reviewing the Company’'s

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the Reporting
Period to review, among others, the interim and annual
financial reports. The members of the Audit
Committee and the attendance of each member during the
Reporting Period are as follows:

results and
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Independent Non-executive Directors BIAFERITES
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Remuneration Committees

The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John
(chairman), Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley and Mr. Chun Chi Man
and one executive Director namely Mrs. Ando Eri, a majority of
whom are independent non-executive Directors. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The primary functions of the Remuneration
Committee include (a) making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and senior management and establishing a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (b)
reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposal with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and (c) making recommendations to the Board on
the overall remuneration packages of individual Directors and
senior management.

The Remuneration Committee held two meeting to review and
recommend the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and senior management during the Reporting Period.
The members of the Remuneration Committee and the

attendance of each member during the Reporting Period are as
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eligible to
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Executive Director BITESE

Mrs. Ando Eri THBE LT 212

Independent Non-executive Directors BIARITES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John 48 B 5 A 2/2
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley MO 2+ 2/2
Mr. Chun Chi Man =RREE 22
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Mr. Ando Shokei (chairman), and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John,
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley and Mr. Chun Chi Man.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include, without limitation, (a) reviewing the structure, size and
diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational
skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the corporate strategy; (b)
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of
directorships; (c) assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and (d) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman.

background, ethnicity, professional experience,

individuals nominated for

Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board. The Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

level as an essential element in
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption. In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider the
candidate’s character, qualifications, experience, independence
and other relevant criteria necessary to complement the
corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

the Nomination
size and

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy,
Committee will review annually the structure,
composition of the Board and where appropriate,
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board

make

maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee is committed to diversity at all levels and will
consider a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and industry
experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives that are
business growth and is also committed to ensuring that
recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the Board

relevant to the Company’s

downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered.

The Board will
implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain

consider setting measurable objectives to

the progress made towards achieving those objectives. At
present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board
is sufficiently diverse and the Board has not set any measurable
objectives.
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The Nomination Committee met once during the Reporting
Period to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and to consider the qualifications of the retiring
Directors standing for re-election at the annual general meeting
and to consider
appointment of Directors.

and recommend to the Board on the
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Director nomination policy

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) on 31 December 2018 which
sets out the selection criteria and process and the Board
succession planning considerations in relation to nomination
and appointment of Directors and aims to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company and the continuity of
the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director
assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the

Nomination Policy sets out the factors for

Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the
following:

o character and integrity;
o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,

knowledge and experience that are
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

relevant to the
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e diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, o HEHAEBENZHEIE  BEETEAK

age (18 years or above), cultural and educational Al FER O8N L) XERHEE
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, =oGE BELR - Bee - MEKRRE
knowledge and length of service; FH

e requirements of independent non-executive Directors on o RIELTMHA EEEBIIHENTES
the Board and independence of the proposed WRE UERBRBENEIENITESD
independent non-executive Directors in accordance with BIM R
the Listing Rules; and

e commitment in respect of available time and relevant o AHAREEBETEESN HARFEETEE
interest to discharge duties as a member of the Board 8 EW BRI ITR A R B ERER
and/or Board committee(s) of the Company. Zag

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures ZEZRZHRNFBAUELRZEFESELR
and process for the selection and appointment of new Directors MR A S BIREEZMREF NIBRE - NIRE H
and re-election of Directors at general meetings. During the [ 1ERZE®© ﬁ#MTTm%&V&i%Tm%
Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee adhered to the HKEMEREF UWEHELEBEE EHE
following nomination procedures and the process set out in the

Director Nomination Policy to select and recommend candidates

for directorship:

(a) Appointment of new director (a) EFHEE
i.  Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new . REZESREKIZEFESH
Director and the biographical information (or BEERIRE AN EREE R (318 #
relevant details) of the candidate, the Nomination Ei’l‘*)?é 3% £t E BIRY (6 5% B R
Committee should, evaluate such candidate based on BA UAEZBREARESG?
the criteria as set out above to determine whether BETESE-

such candidate is qualified for directorship.

ii. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, i. WBERIPR—EBHEEEENKRE
the Nomination Committee should rank them by AN REZESGRBEARATNS
order of preference based on the needs of the ERFEEREANEREES (A
Company and reference check of each candidate A BENRENEBRXT -

(where applicable).
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(b)

The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate
for directorship, as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a Director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee should
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should make recommendation to
Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

The Nomination Committee should review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee should also review and
determine whether the retiring Director continues to
meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of Director at the
general meeting. The Nomination Committee will
review the Director Nomination

appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Policy, as
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Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chun Chi Man
(chairman), Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John and Ms. Lam Suk Ling
Shirley, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Ando Shokei.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in
the CG Code.
Governance Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company. The principal duties of the
Corporate Governance Committee include, without limitation,
(a) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and to make recommendations to the
Board; (b) to corporate
governance report and related disclosures in the annual and
interim reports of the Group and ensuring compliance with
relevant requirements under the Listing Rules or the rules of any
other stock exchange in respect of which the securities of the
Company are listed or quoted, or other laws, regulations, rules
and codes as may be applicable to the Group; (c) to develop
and formalise the functions reserved to the Board and those to
be delegated by the Board to the management of the Group,
and to review those arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group; and
(d) to make sure that appropriate monitoring systems are in
place to ensure compliance against the
controls systems, processes and policies, and in particular to
monitor the implementation of the Group’s plans to maintain
high compliance with its own risk management standards.

The terms of reference of the Corporate

review and approve the annual

relevant internal
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The Corporate Governance Committee met once during the
Reporting Period to introduce and propose relevant principles
concerning corporate governance and to review and determine
the corporate governance policy.
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Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley MO 22+ 1/1
Mr. Chun Chi Man RARSEE 11

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed the
Company's corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of directors and
senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory the
compliance of the Model Code and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.

requirements,
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the
Company establishes and maintains an appropriate and
effective risk management system.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has reviewed the risk
management system. The Board considers that the risk
management system is effective and adequate for the Group as
a whole.

The Board further considers that (i) there was no issue relating
to the material controls, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions, of the
Group; and (ii) that there were adequate staff with appropriate
qualifications and experience, resources and budget of its
accounting and financial reporting function, and adequate
training programmes have been provided for the Reporting
Period.

including financial,

The Board is also responsible for the internal control system of
the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have
been designed to, among other things, ensure maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication and ensure
compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed
and assessed on an on-going basis by the Audit Committee and
the Board, and will be further reviewed and assessed at least
once each year by the Board.
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Based on the risk evaluation, the Group will manage the risk as
follows:

o Risk elimination — management may identify and implement
certain changes or controls that in effect eliminate the risk
entirely.

o Risk mitigation — management may implement risk
mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood, velocity
or severity of the risk to an acceptable level.

o Risk monitoring — accidents and other situations involving
material loss or near-loss will be investigated and properly
documented as part of the effort to manage risks.

o Risk retention — management may decide that the risk
rating is low enough that the risk is at acceptable level
and no action is required. The risk will continue to be
monitored as part of the risk management program to
ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.

The Company has in place an internal control system which
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The key
components of the internal control system are shown as
follow:

° Control environment — a set of standards, processes and
structures are established to provide the basis for carrying
out internal control across the Group.

o Risk assessment — a dynamic and iterative process is
conducted for identifying and analysing risks to achieve
the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for determining
how risks should be managed.

o Control activities — action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure management mitigates risks in
the achievement of objectives of the Group are carried
out.
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o Information and communication — internal and external
communication is made to provide the Group with the
information needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring — ongoing and separate evaluations are
conducted to ascertain whether each component of
internal control is present and functioning.

In addition, the Company regulates the handling and
dissemination of inside information to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such information is
appropriately approved,
information is efficiently and consistently made. The Company
has taken various procedures and measures to prevent a breach
of disclosure requirement, including arousing the awareness to
the Directors and employees to preserve confidentiality of inside
information and disseminating information to specified persons
on a need-to-know basis.

and the dissemination of such

Internal audit

The Company has not established an internal audit department
and the Directors are of the view that given the size, nature
and complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more
cost effective to appoint an independent internal control review
advisor (“Internal Control Advisor”), which is independent of
the Group’s daily operation and consists of professional staff
with relevant expertise, to perform the
management and internal control systems of the Group in
order to meet its needs.

review on risk

The Board itself and through the Audit Committee and the
Internal Control Advisor has conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
of the Group during the Reporting Period, which cover all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls.
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The Internal Control Advisor has conducted interviews with
relevant staff members, reviewed relevant documentation of risk
management and control systems of the Group,
evaluated findings of any deficiencies in the systems and
provided recommendations for improvement. The scope and
findings of review on the systems have been reported to and
reviewed by the Audit Committee, who has further reported to
the Board for its review at Board meeting.

internal

During the Reporting Period, the Group has appointed an
Internal Control Advisor to review the internal control system.
Improvements in risk management
recommended were adopted. Based on the
findings from Internal Control Advisor, the Board considers that
the internal control system is effective and adequate for the
Group as a whole.

internal control and

measures as

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Reporting Period.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report on pages 107 to 117.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Reference is made to the non-competition undertakings given
by Mr. Ando Shokei in favour of the Company disclosed in the
prospectus of the Company dated 27 September 2018
("Prospectus”). Mr. Ando has confirmed to the Company that
he has complied with the non-competition undertakings during
the Reporting Period. The independent non-executive Directors
have conducted such review for the Reporting Period, and also
reviewed the relevant undertakings and are satisfied that such
undertakings have been complied with.

12 B IR R BY 5 B 2R 4R

Ittt A #A2018F9 278 2 A AR R
ER(BRERDMEELHEMELEAREAR
FIAEMBEHNTER A - REELED AKX
NEER  ERREHEETTIRR AL B
VA TESERNREHMETEBAEMN I
EEHNBERERENBEBAZELST -

AUDITOR REMUNERATION ZE BN AN &
Fees paid/
Service category RISER payable
Bt ER
HK$
#IT
Audit fee ETEH 1,650,000

COMPANY SECRETARY ATHE

Mr. Chak Chi Shing, the chief financial officer of the Company,
has been appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company
since 13 September 2019.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chak Chi
Shing, the company secretary of the Company, has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
Reporting Period.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholder rights, separate
resolutions should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of each
individual Director. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

interests and
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Right to call a general meeting

General meetings may be convened by the Directors on
requisition of Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the
total voting rights of all the Shareholders having a right to vote
at general meetings or by such Shareholder(s) who made the
requisition (as the case may be) pursuant to Sections 566 and
568 respectively of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”).
Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as
set out in the Companies Ordinance for convening a general
meeting.

Putting forward proposals at general meeting

Pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance,
shareholders representing at least 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all shareholders; or at least 50 shareholders (as the
case may be) who have a right to vote at the relevant annual
general meeting, may request to circulate a resolution to be
moved at an annual general meeting. Shareholders should
follow the requirements and procedures as set out in the
Companies Ordinance for circulating a resolution for annual
general meeting. Written request can be sent by post to the
Company’s registered office address at Room 2601, 26/F Wing
On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong or by
email at ir@chuo-auction.com.hk.
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Putting forward enquires to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests to the
Company for putting forward any enquiries to the Board.
Contact details are as follows:

Address:  Room 2601, 26/F Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught
Road Central, Hong Kong (for the attention of the
Board of Directors)

Email: ir@chuo-auction.com.hk

Shareholders are also welcome to make enquiries via the online
enquiry form available on the Company’'s website at
www.chuo-auction.com.hk.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must lodge their
questions together with their detailed contact information
(including full name,
prompt response from the Company if the Company deems
appropriate. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

contact details and identification) for

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
Board Committee will attend the annual general meeting to
answer any question.
special general meeting (“SGM") to approve transaction and/or
matter in accordance with the Listing Rules and the corporate
governance procedures of the Company. These will provide
further opportunities for Shareholders to comment and vote on
specific transaction and/or matter. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in
particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings.

In addition, the Company will convene

The interim and annual reports of the Company are dispatched
to Shareholders in a timely manner before the time limits laid
by statutory and Listing Rules requirements to ensure effective
communication with Shareholders.
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All the Shareholders are given at least 20 clear business days’
notice before the date of the annual general meeting and at
least 10 clear business days’ notice for all other general
meetings.

All the annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements
and notices of Shareholders’ meetings as required under the
Listing Rules will be available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has also complied with the
concerning voting by poll under the Listing Rules. Details of the
poll voting procedures and the rights of Shareholders to
demand a poll are included in circulars to Shareholders
dispatched by the Company and explained by the chairman of
general meeting at the meeting. All resolutions proposed at
general meeting are voted separately.

requirements

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles. An up to date version of the Articles is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to
ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December
2018 (the "Dividend Policy”) on payment of dividends. Details
are set out in the Report of the Directors.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (referred to as the
“Company” and its subsidiary, collectively referred to as
the “Group”) is a well-recognized auction house of
Chinese and Japanese artworks in Hong Kong and Japan.
The Group specializes in auctioneering a wide variety of
artworks with emphasis on Chinese and Japanese
artworks, including Chinese paintings and calligraphies,
Chinese antiques and Japanese and Chinese teawares. The
Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly
corporation, while maintaining high quality standards in
auction. The Group considers social and environmental
responsibilities as one of the core values in our business
operations and strives for greater sustainability and
transparency, as well as fostering a sustainable
environment for future generation.

This report summarizes several subjects of the Group’s
business practices for the Environmental, Social and
Governance (referred to as the “ESG Report” or “this
Report”) and its relevant implemented policies and
strategies in relation to the Group’s operational practices
and environmental protection.

The Report covers the period from 1 April 2022 to
31 March 2023 (the “Reporting Period”).

Reporting Framework

The Report has been prepared with reference to the ESG
Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in
Appendix 27 to the Main Board Listing Rules of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

In preparation of this Report, due diligence has been
taken to adhere to the Reporting Principles of
“Materiality”, “Quantitative”, "“Balance” and
“Consistency” as set out in the ESG Reporting Guide,
which are detailed as follows.

Materiality: We identified the most material ESG issues
pertaining to our businesses through the materiality
assessment. The materiality of issues was reviewed and
confirmed by the board of directors (the “Board”).
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Quantitative: This Report discloses key performance
indicators (“KPI”) in environmental and social aspects in a
quantitative way wherever possible and gives comparative
data where appropriate. Whenever deemed material, the
Report details any standards, methodologies, assumptions
and/or calculation tools used, or source of conversion
factors used.

Balance: This Report complies with the principle of
balance to present the current performance and
management of the Group in ESG in an objective
manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, this Report applies
the data statistics and calculation methods that are
consistent with those in last year ESG report to provide a
meaningful comparison with data over previous years.

This ESG Report has undergone the internal review
process of the Group and was approved by the Board.

Reporting Scope

The General Disclosure of the environmental and social
policies and measures in this Report and the compliance
issues cover the entire group, and the disclosure scope of
the Environmental KPI section of the Report covers the
Group’s headquarter in Japan and its operation sites in
Hong Kong. The impacts from its office in the People’s
Republic of China (referred to as the “PRC") and Taiwan
are minimal, so this report does not include the details of
the environmental issues brought by the operation from
the PRC and Taiwan. There were no changes to the
reporting scope compared to the previous year.

The Group's auction management represents the majority
of the Group's environmental and social impacts. Thus,
the content of this ESG Report focus mainly on the
impacts brought by storing and maintaining the auction
lots and other externality induced throughout the
marketing process.
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Comments and Feedback

The progress of the Group depends in part on valuable
comments from stakeholders. For any clarifications or
advice as regarding this ESG Report, please forward your

comments and suggestions to info@chuo-auction.com.hk.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group believes that identifying and addressing the
views of stakeholders lay a solid foundation to the
long-term growth and success of the Group. The Group
has a wide network of stakeholders, including investors,
employees,
government and community.

sellers and business partners, customers,

o

il

Investors

o
e,
Employees

(=321

A

Tokyo Chuo Auction

REFRIAE

Customers

5P

Community

ZauEr)
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The Group develops multiple channels to the
stakeholders, which is summarized in the following table,
that provides them with the opportunities to express their
views on the Group’s sustainability performance and
future strategies. To reinforce mutual trust and respect,
the Group is committed to maintaining effective
communication channels, both formally and informally,
with stakeholders to enable the Group to better shape its
business strategies in order to respond to their needs and
expectations, anticipate risks and strengthen key
relationships.

Stakeholder

Groups Engagement channels

frin &4 B 2HRE

Investors

Customers
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Stakeholder
Groups

Fefor & AR

Employees

Suppliers and
business
partners

e 7 & X5
%

Government and
regulatory
authorities

B & 85 & # 7

Community

o

Engagement channels

2HRE

Performance appraisals
On-the-job coaching
Training sessions

Internal memorandum
Human resources manual
Exit interview

=B
ERES
HlERTE
B 8 T 8%
ADERTF
B B E A

Business meetings

Tendering for procurement of products
or services

Direct communication

B g &
PR R R A R
HEER

Statutory filings and notification
Regulatory or voluntary disclosures

A TEFIE MR A
EEXAMEEE

Community activities
Corporate donations
& % B

NGCIECE
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Topics of interest/concern

BEEE

e Training and development

e Employee remuneration and welfare
e Occupational health and safety

e Equal opportunities

e Rights and benefits

e Working hours

o ol R R

o BEFHMKREM
s BERELZE
s FEKE

o HEH RARF

s TREFH

e Fair competition
e Business ethics
e Payment schedule

« DEHF
. EEEE
o 14 HREF R R

e Compliance with law and regulations
e Treatment of inside information

o BT EARRIEM
s REATHE

e Fair employment opportunities
e Environmental protection

s NV EEKS

o IRFIRE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Sustainable development encompasses a holistic spectrum
of environmental and social aspects. In order to harness
the related risks and opportunities, it is crucial for the
Group to determine the most material aspects. The Group
adopts the three-step process of identification,
prioritisation and validation to ensure sustainability topics
are being managed and reported in accordance with their
materiality.

(1) Identification
The Group identified all fundamental sustainability
topics in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide.
In the context of the latest sustainability landscape,
the Group has determined the following 19 topics
that are deemed to have impact on the environment
and society through our operations.
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ESG Aspects
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A. Environmental
RIE

B. Social
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Al

A2

A3

Ad

B1

B2

B3

B4

B5

B6

B7

B8

Emissions

Y

Use of Resources

B @A

The Environment and
Natural Resources
RIERXAEIR
Climate Change
mIREAE

Employment

1E 17

Health and Safety
BERZZ
Development and
Training

&' KI5 A
Labour Standards
LT ER
Supply Chain
Management
HEZETE
Product Responsibility
Edn B 1T

Anti-corruption
RE)T

Community
Investment

%R E
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Material ESG issues for the Group
HEAREBEXWRR #HERELRSEEHE

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

17.

18.

19.

Air emissions

& S HE B

Greenhouse gas emissions
= SR8 HE

Waste management
BEEYER

Energy consumption
BEIRH B

Water consumption

KB RH R

Paper consumption
AR H RS

Environmental risk management
RFEE R E E

Climate change strategy

R A R

Human resources practices
ANERER

Employment and remuneration policies
12 78 I % B B 3R

Equal opportunity

TEHRE

Workplace health and safety
TESHAiERRZ R

Employee development

BEEHRE

Anti-child and forced labour practices
BribE T ko s T
Supplier practices

HERE TR

Service quality and customer satisfaction
REEERETFMEE

Protection of customers’ privacy
REZPILE

Anti-corruption and anti-money
laundering

&G ER%EE

Community investment

A
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(2) Prioritization
To determine the materiality of the selected ESG
topics, the senior management, possess as a
high-level view of all the topics and have access to
stakeholders’ feedback, was asked to score the
significance of each ESG topic to stakeholder groups
and the Group in each of their perspective. The
following materiality matrix resulted, where the
topmost-right quadrant determines the topics of
high materiality.

VRS

| = |
L A \|:/f'|\\\x i
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EEMEM
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4.0
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Impact on stakeholders
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(3)

Highly material topics (by ranking)
EEEEMTEGR#EZEY)

Ranking No. Topics
#a 45 |
Highest 16 Service quality and customer satisfaction
RS REEEREFGRE
17 Protection of customers’ privacy
REEZFRILE
12 Workplace health and safety
ITHBEFMRRREZR
2,4, 5 Greenhouse gas emissions; Energy consumption; Water consumption
mERBHER; BRHEE KERHERE
8 Climate change strategy
RIREILREE
1 Equal opportunity
FERE
14 Anti-child and forced labour practices
PrlbE T R 5T
7 Environmental risk management
IR b
10, 13 Employment and remuneration policies; Employee development
EERFMBR: EEER
9 Human resources practices
ANERER
Lowest 15 Supplier practices
RIE {4 FE i H

Validation

The Board has reviewed and validated the materiality
process and hence the Report discloses the Group’s
performance on all high and low materiality topics.
To address matters most material to the Group’s
stakeholders, topics of high materiality are discussed

(3) £
EFecEHYIREERERKF
At ARERBEAEEBEMES
EZUNEERHNTEZRR -
SEOEHAKRERNEREENT
B AREHEASERUENTE

in more depth throughout the Report. EITEFMADNR -
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APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY
DEVELOPMENT

As a responsible company, the Group continues to step up
for sustainability measures as a corporate responsibility as
well as meeting the customers’ standards. To make the
Group's investors and stakeholders properly informed for
assessment, the Group has set out below its efforts to
minimize the negative influence to the environment,
promote the well-being of the Group’s employees and
contribute to the community during the Reporting Period.

Board Statement

The Board has the overall responsibility for the Group’s
ESG strategy and reporting, which include determination
and evaluation of ESG related risks, overseeing and
ensuring the suitable and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems. The Board is also responsible
for ensuring the smooth operation of strategic plan and
vision, as well as operational guidelines for ESG matters.
The Board has formed an ESG taskforce (the “Taskforce")
to assist and advise the Board on the development and
implementation of ESG strategies, policies and practices of
the Group, and review of ESG performance and targets.
The Taskforce reports to the Board on a regular basis. It
has the responsibility for collecting data from different
functional departments and business operations and
analysing (including but not limited to comparing with
historical data) and verifying ESG data after collected,
ensuring compliance with ESG-related laws and
regulations, and preparing ESG reports. It also has the
responsibility for implementing ESG governance strategy,
coordinating ESG matters and reporting relevant work
progress to the Board on a regular basis. Each functional
department and subordinate company, serving on the
execution level, is responsible for implementing initiatives
set up by the Taskforce and reporting relevant work
progress and data to the Taskforce on a regular basis. The
Taskforce comprises of the staffs from different operating
units to ensure the diverse backgrounds and expertise in
ESG management. The Group will review the composition
of the Taskforce on a regular basis. The Board will have
meeting with the Taskforce at least once per year and
receive briefings on any updated ESG issues and
performance, including the progress of ESG related goals
and targets, on a regular basis in order to ensure that the
Group's ESG strategies, goals and targets are achieved. By
reviewing and evaluating the implementation of policies,
the Board is up-to-date regarding the ESG performance of
the Group.
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The Board performs annual review on the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems. The Group has appoint an independent internal
control (referred to as the “Internal
Control Advisor”) to assesses the risks, including
ESG-related risks and opportunities, through the processes
of risk identification, assessment, treatment, monitoring
and review. The result of the overall ESG-related risk
assessment will be reported to the Board on an annual
basis for review in order to ensure that the Group’s ESG
strategy and goals are achieved. Base on the findings of
the Internal Control Advisor, the Board is up-to-date
regarding the risk and opportunities of ESG.

review advisor

The Board tracks, reviews and follow up on the
achievement of the main ESG issues (including ESG
related goals and targets) at least once a year in order to
bridge the gap between current progress and the
expectations. The Board will also ensure the Group’s
policies are continuously implemented.

ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to environmental sustainability by
seeking for solutions to minimize the environmental
impacts of its operations, with a particular focus on the
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and conservation
of resources. The Group sets out a number of policies and
guidelines for impact management and environmental
The Group strives to fulfill sustainable
development and to promote preservation of resources
with its environmental responsibility.

awareness.

Aspect A1: Emissions and waste

The Group implements robust measures to ensure all
discharges to air and the handling of waste are compliant
with regulatory standards. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has not encountered any incidents of
non-compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
related to air emissions and waste handling at all
operating regions. Major applicable laws and regulations
are detailed in respective sections.
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Air emissions

The Group’s air emissions are limited to the exhaust gas
from vehicle use, which includes the emission of nitrogen
oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO), and particulate matter
(PM). The Group aims to replace heavy-polluting vehicles
with more environmentally-friendly models. In efforts to
improve roadside air quality and traffic conditions, the
Group encourages employees to take public
transportation during commutes to work. Major applicable
laws and regulations related to control of air emissions
include, but are not limited to, the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance of Hong Kong and Air Pollution Control Act of
Japan.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s air emissions
from vehicle use were recorded. The Group released
3.17 kg, 0.07 kg and 0.23 kg of nitrogen oxides, sulphur
oxides, and particulate matter in FY2023.

Air emissions Unit
EE SR B B

FY2023
2023 BB E
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Greenhouse gas emissions and climate change
mitigation

Climate change adaptation and mitigation is no longer
only a subject of international agenda, but highly relevant
to all members of society. The corporate sector is
increasingly becoming aware of the potential types of
impact climate change risks present to their operations.
To implement an effective approach to climate change
mitigation, it is important to have a comprehensive
understanding of the carbon emission sources of the
Group. The Group’s carbon footprint, presented in the
chart and table below, is primarily due to office electricity
usage (in Scope Il) and paper waste disposed at landfills
(in Scope lll). During the Reporting Period under review,
the Group generated a total of 82.59 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent (tCO,e) of greenhouse gases (Scope |
and II), resulting in a carbon intensity of 1.97 tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent per employee. The Group will
continue to review the effectiveness of the existing
initiatives and set achievable targets in future years
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Note (1):  The method used for greenhouse gas data emissions
is based on (but not limited to) the “Greenhouse
Gas Inventory Protocol: Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standards” published by the World
Resources Institute and the World Business Council
for Sustainable Development and “How to prepare
an ESG Report Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock
Exchange.

Note (2):  Scope Il includes emissions from the purchase of
electricity from power companies, and reference
includes but not limited to “TEPCO Integrated report
2022" issued by Tokyo Electric Power Company,
“Kansai Electric Power Group Integrated Report
2022" issued by Kansai Electric Power Group and
"How to prepare an ESG Report Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
published by the Stock Exchange.

Note (3):  The number of employee of the Group in FY2023 and

FY2022 are 42 and 41 respectively.

The Group is committed to reducing our carbon footprint.
Scope | and Il emissions are addressed through our energy
reduction initiatives (See Section: A2.1 Energy
Consumption). Scope Il emissions incur throughout our
value chain. We have set emission targets to maintain
scope |, scope Il and scope Il discharge intensity (per
employee) of greenhouse gas emissions at the same level
of FY2022 by the end of FY2027 and continue to employ
the following measures to minimize such emissions:

o Cut business travels whenever possible through video
conferencing;

o Select direct flights for unavoidable business trips;
and

o Promote paper recycling at office premises.
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Waste management

The typical waste generated in the Group’s office are
paper and general waste. The majority of waste is
disposed at the landfill by qualified contractors. The
Group has established clear procedures for disposal and
management of office garbage and recyclable waste by
allocating recycle bins in the offices. During the Reporting
Period, the Group generated 700 kg (2022: 650 kg) of
paper waste, resulting in the non-hazardous waste
intensity of 16.7 kg per employee (2022: 15.9 kg per
employee). In the course of operation, the Group did not
generate any significant hazardous waste. The major
applicable laws and regulations related to the control of
waste include, but not limited to, the “Waste Disposal
Ordinance” of Hong Kong and “Waste Disposal and
Cleaning Law” of Japan. The Group has set waste target
of maintaining the discharge intensity (per employee) of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste at the same level of
FY2022 by the end of FY2027. The Group will continue to
promote the concepts of reducing waste and continue to
review the effectiveness of the existing initiatives.

Seeking to contribute to the closed-loop economy, we
have employed the following measures and initiatives
during the Reporting Period to reduce the generation of
non-hazardous waste, and raise recycling rates:

o Organise and maintain the garbage and recycled
waste storage areas;

o Collect all waste printer cartridges for recycling;

o Reduce use of single-use disposable and
non-recyclable products;

o Adopt green procurement, i.e. purchasing products
and services that cause minimal adverse
environmental impacts;
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° Evaluate the usage of material to avoid overstock;

o Set computer and printers to default duplex and
economical modes; and

o Encourage the staffs to use electronic

communications for directory, forms, reports and

storage when possible.

Aspect A2: Use of resources

The Group is committed to continually monitoring and
improving resource efficiency as an integral part of
business strategy and operating methods, as well as
complying with relevant government policies and
environmental legislations.

Energy

The Group's energy consumption consists of vehicle fuel
and electricity use for office operations. Electricity
purchased accounted for approximately 77% of total
energy consumption, and petrol use accounted for the
remaining 23%. Due to COVID-19, we started an auction
platform so that our customers can participate and bid in
auction without time-space limitations. During the
Reporting Period under review, the Group consumed
45,249 kWh and 154,462 kWh of direct and indirect
energy respectively, resulting in a total energy intensity of
4,755 kWh per employee.
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Note (1):

Note (2):

The energy conversion method adopted by the Group
is based on the "How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” and the IPCC Default Net Calorific Values
Database.

The number of employee of the Group in FY2023 and
FY2022 are 42 and 41 respectively.
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The Group has energy consumption targets of maintaining
the discharge intensity (per employee) at the same level of
FY2022 by the end of FY2027 and committed to
minimising such consumption. The Group will continue to
promote the concepts of reducing energy consumption
and continue to review the effectiveness of the existing
initiatives. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s
premises of operations have implemented the following
initiatives:

o Replace heavy-polluting vehicles with more
environmentally-friendly models;

o Install energy-saving light bulbs and LED lights across
offices;

o Enable power saving modes for all electronic
equipment and computers; and

o Continually upgrade electronic equipment, servers,
and monitors to energy efficient models.

Water resources

At the Group, the offices withdraw water from municipal
water supplies. During the Reporting Period, it did not
encounter any problems in sourcing water fit for purpose.
However, water resources should not be taken for granted
and conserved to ensure a sustainable future. The Group
has set water consumption target of maintaining the
discharge intensity (per employee) at the same level of
FY2022 by the end of FY2027 and committed to
minimizing water consumption. We will continue to
review the effectiveness of the existing initiatives and the
progress of the targets. The Group has established
pathway of enhancing the effectiveness of the use of
water resources with long-term perspective as directional
targets.

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023

NEBE M B REFE B AE A R2027F B
FEAERBBHEREE (BREB)ER
£ E2022F B FEMEE A KFE - WK

MBI BEEBERE AEBEKEEHRER

DRSS  YHEERNIREHE
FERIAR » MIEHAR - AEENEZS
FREMEIA T 845 -

e MERFRNBENBRELBRETR
HY EE

e MPRAEARKEEEBKLEDE

e ARMAETFREBMLEMBAEER
W3

. T%h%%% - {7 R 2% M R 23

KEIR

EARER  PHAFMTEREKPEK-
REEBRA - BAERKEERBKRA E
WHEBEIERME - A KERTER
BIBATE R - FEINLARE LA REAR R 2R A9

AREER AEEEREMAKERE
R027F MR FERERFBHNEE (8
iR 8) 4 FF1E 120224 B BU4F 2 A A B9
IKF - WHARD AKX - AR EERS
BAERENKUEEREERE AEEE
B RERMEIESKE RN AR
UERER B -




During the Reporting Period, offices and sites have
implemented the following initiatives:

o Makes use of dual-flush toilet systems to save water,;

o Gives priority to effective water-saving products in
purchasing decisions;

o Collects rainwater for watering plants when possible;
and

° Checks the hoses and pipes for leaks, cracks, and
other damage regularly and repair it in a timely
manner.

Due to the change in management company, the
consumption of water decreased to a total of 188 cubic
metre during the Reporting Period, resulting in a water
intensity of 4.48 cubic metre per employee.
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Note (1):  The scope of the data disclosure is limited to the
Group’s premise of operations in Tokyo, as the
water supply at our Hong Kong office is solely
controlled by the building management office.
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Packaging material

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, the Group
does not manufacture physical products for sale, while
packaging materials for auction products are negligible.
Therefore, as the Group deemed packaging consumption
was not a material topic, it did not disclose any data for
this Reporting Period. However, the Group makes efforts
to reduce or avoid the use of excessive packaging and/or
decorative material.

Aspect A3: The environment and natural resources
As a business engaged in the auctioning of cultural
products, we are engaged in the organisation and
management of corporate events. We constantly seek to
integrate sustainability principles into the event
management, such as aiming to reduce waste generated
during events. The Group strives to build an
eco-conscious culture that ingrains positive lifestyles and
habits among employees. It encourages employees to opt
for public transportation when commuting to and from
offices. The Group also provides eco-friendly office
supplies and reusable cups and kitchenware.

Aspect A4: Climate Change

The corporate sector has become increasingly aware of the
potential types of impact climate change risks present to
their bottom line, as well as the opportunities to transit to
a low-carbon economy offers to the private sphere. Albeit
in the early stages, the Group has commenced the
integration of climate change risks and opportunities
within our business strategies. Our Group will conduct an
enterprise risk assessment at least once a year to assess
the current and potential risks faced by our Group’s
business, including the potential risks arising from the
impacts of climate change. The Group reviews the impact
of climate change on its operation on a regular basis and
will formulate measures to address risks and achieve
sustainable operations in the future.
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The Group’s Environment, Social and Governance policy
emphasize that the Group should apply three key
strategies:
improve climate change risk management, and include
climate change concerns in the future business plan of the

enhance the carbon emission disclosure,

Group. The Group’s potential climate-related risks are I

summarised as below:

Risk
B B%

Risk Type
[ B FE 5

Physical Risks

e Changes in rainfall
patterns, extreme
changes in weather
patterns and more
severe extreme
weather events

c BERXZ(L XA
MR BB RER
5 (01 R R E A

Transition Risks e Changes in
environmental-related
regulations and
increase in discharge
responsibility

s RIBMBZERELK
BEME (E4E h0

Potential Financial
Impact

BEMBGRE

e Reduced revenue from
business due to
business disruptions

s XBETHETEHEHU

D

e Higher operating and
compliance costs to
adopt new practices

s RMIMERNEER
B BN IR

Mitigation Strategy
% 1R SR BR

e Establish adverse
weather condition
policy and formulate
emergency plans

e Insurance coverage for
fire, flood and
typhoon damages to
merchandise, fixtures
and fittings etc.
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e Adopt energy

conservation measures
to reduce emissions

e Continue to monitor

the regulatory
environment to ensure
that the Group has
complied with the
environmental related
laws and regulations
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group ingrains social responsibility into all aspects of
its operations. The Group strives to maintain honest and
authentic dialogue with staff and seeks to address their
needs and views to ensure our conduct is responsible at
all times. The Group commits to offering a fair and safe
workplace with staff development opportunities.
Furthermore, the Group commits to delivering the quality
products/services grounded on ethical business conduct
and supply chain management, as well as to meaningful
engagements with the community.

Aspect B1: Employment

As at the end of the Reporting Period,
employed a total of 42 employees, in which 20 and 22
are male and female staff respectively. In term of the
workforce by the age group, 7, 20, 11 and 4 of Group's
employees were in the age group of less than 30, 30 to
39, 40 to 49 and 50 to 59 respectively. In terms of the
workforce by region, 24, 16,
employees are located in Japan, Hong Kong, the PRC and
Taiwan. In term of the workforce by employee category,
5, 2 and 35 of Group’'s employees were executive,

the Group

1 and 1 of the Group’s

technical, administrative respectively. In term of the
workforce by employment type, 39 and 3 of Group's
employees were full-time employee and part-time

employee respectively.
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Note (1):  The data of the number of employees is based on the
labour contract signed with employees provided by
the human resources department of the Group. The
data cover employees who have a direct employment
relationship with the Group in accordance with
relevant local laws and those whose work or
workplace is controlled by the Group. The above
method of reporting employment data is based on
the "How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 3:

Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs”.

Based on the principles of fairness and equality, the
Group’s employment handbook stipulates concrete policies
relating to relevant labor laws, regulations and industry
practices, covering areas such as compensation, dismissal,
promotion, working hours, recruitment, rest periods, equal
opportunities, diversity and other benefits and welfare.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has encountered
no incidents of non-compliance with all major applicable
laws and regulations related to employment at all
operating regions. Major applicable laws and regulations
include, but are not limited to, “Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China”
the People’s Republic of China”,
of Hong Kong and the Labor Standards Act in Japan and
Taiwan.

, the “Labour Contract Law of
“Employment Ordinance”

The Group’s policies and procedures included in the
employment handbook are reviewed and updated on a
regular basis. The Group discourages and disallows any
behavior that violates the regulations in the employment
handbook. Offenders will receive warning, and the Group
has the right to terminate employment contract with
offenders for any serious violations.
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Remuneration policies

Employees of the Group are remunerated at a competitive
level with reference to market terms and individual merits
and are rewarded according to their performance and
experience. The promotion and remuneration of the
Group’s employees are subject to annual review.
Employees are entitled to the defined contribution
retirement benefits scheme under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ base salaries. The Group also made
contributions to provident funds, elderly insurance,
medical insurance, unemployment insurance and
work-related injury insurance in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations in Japan. Furthermore,
employees are entitled to travel allowances, “thirteenth
month” bonus, five-day workweek arrangement and
various types of paid leave. The Group has adopted share
option scheme as a reward to eligible high-caliber
employees and to attract similar high quality personnel
that are valuable to the Group. To ensure information
transparency on the responsibilities and rights of
employees, details are set out in the employment
handbook.

The human resources department conducts a
comprehensive recruitment review process to ensure that
the data provided by the candidates is accurate. The
Group's recruitment and promotion process are carried out
in a fair and open manner for all employees. Employees
are recognised and rewarded by their contribution, work
performance and skills, and outcomes will not be affected
by any discrimination on the grounds of age, sex, marital
status, family status, race, disability, nationality, religion,
political affiliation and sexual orientation and other
factors. In the case of dismissal, the employment
handbook is adhered to which ensures the entire
procedure is compliant with statutory requirements. The
Group strives to retain the best employees at work, and
has continued to monitor staff turnover with a view to
identify and manage problems in the termination process.
In regards to employee’s holiday, if it falls on a statutory
holiday, compensatory time off will be offered.
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During the Reporting Period under review, the Group's REBEREHA AEBENEE RAE
employee turnover rate increased from 12% to 90% in 2% EH M H12%E 11 £20234F 8 K
FY2023 due to the business restructure. The charts below FEM0% o NRETIZMER - Fhe Kk
present the turnover rate by gender, age and region. @B HE AKX -
Turnover rate” Unit FY2023 FY2022
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Note (1):  Employee turnover data are based on labour contracts
signed with employees provided by the human
resources department of the Group. The turnover
rate is calculated by dividing the number of
employees who left during the year by the number
of employees at the end of the year. The reporting
method used for the above turnover data is based
on the “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix
3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” issued by the
Stock Exchange.

Anti-discrimination and diversity

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not
discriminate on the basis of age, sex, marital status,
family status, race, disability, nationality, religion, political
affiliation and sexual orientation. We embrace inclusive
employment that builds a harmony and respectful
workplace. The Group strives to ensure a safe and secure
workplace with zero tolerance to any form of abuse and/
or sexual harassment in the workplace.

Aspect B2: Workplace health and safety

It is of paramount importance to ensure a safe and
healthy workplace for the employees as the Group
believes its employees are the most valuable assets of an
enterprise. The Group’s management team is responsible
for identifying any actual and potential hazards and risks
to each individual, work towards a safe and hygienic work
environment and to ensure that our work environment is
adhered to the requirements of relevant laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
encountered no incidents of non-compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations related to occupational
health and safety at all operating regions. Major
applicable laws and regulations include, but are not
limited to, “Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance” of
Hong Kong and Industrial Safety and Health Law in Japan,
“Law on Work Safety”of the PRC.
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The Group spares no effort to safequard the safety of our
employees and workplace. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has adopted the best practices through the
following safety policies and procedures.

o Establishes safety guidelines and practices to ensure
healthy and safe working conditions for the
employees;

o Provides safety orientation to new employees to
ensure a thorough understanding of health and
safety, and their roles and responsibilities;

o Conducts regular inspections and investigate any
reported unsafe conditions;

° Conducts rescue, fire and evacuation drills on a
regular basis and according to statutory
requirements; and

o Provides safety trainings materials to employees on a
regular basis in order to raise awareness of
occupational safety.

The Group abides to safety-first principles through the
following workplace procedures and provisions that

include, but are not limited to:

General measures and initiatives

AEBTNESRNBRERPEE R TIE
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MRAMERDEH -
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SEE2F-RA BERERFRRATS
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evaluations

o Provide adequate first-aid facilities
RERHE SR

o Establish emergency plans
il 7 = AT El

RERBRFGEHE  REFENTHENABREZEE

o Examine and maintain the condition of equipment according to supplier's recommendations

o Provide comprehensive training to personnel that engage in manual handling, based on risk assessment
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The outbreak of COVID-19 has bought an unprecedented
impact to the auction industry. To continue our business
in the new normal, the Group provided protective and
disinfection products such as face masks and
alcohol-based hand sanitizers at the workplace and to any
visitors coming to our offices. Also, the Group check
temperature before anyone coming into our offices and
require them to wear mask. Besides, the Group conduct
more frequent cleansing and disinfection measures, as well
as maintain the air ventilation systems at the workplace.
Due to the nature of the business, business trips are
unavoidable. Therefore, the Group monitor employees’
travel plans closely to enable timely actions. Also, the
Group has suspended any avoidable public events as well
as site-visits, e.g. the 2022 Hong Kong Spring Auction
and 2022 Japan Autumn Action to meet travel restrictions
and health quarantine arrangements according to
government policies and for the health of our employees.
During the past three years, there was no work-related
fatalities. Furthermore, there were no lose days due to
work injuries in the Reporting Period.

Aspect B3: Development and training

The Group regards our staff as the most valuable assets.
The Group dedicates significant resources to attract and
retain talented employees, and to ensure that staff grow
in competence and skill sets alongside the business. The
Group is committed to providing comprehensive
on-the-job training programs, which collectively serve as a
platform to encourage its staff to develop potential and
self-improvement.

The Group seeks to improve its comprehensive internal
and external staff training systems. The Group strives to
provide promising career development opportunities
through on-the-job trainings with a focus on auction
operation know-how, customer service techniques,
artworks authentication and valuation abilities, through
which the employees could strengthen the quality of their
skill sets.
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Furthermore, every newly appointed director will receive
formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first
occasion of his appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

The Group also encouraged the directors to participate in
continuing professional development to develop and
refresh knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings
for directors would be arranged and reading materials on
relevant topics would be provided to directors where
appropriate. All directors are also committed to
participating any suitable training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills.

During the Reporting Period under review, a total number
of 42 employees have attended training hours, of which
20 and 22 were male and female respectively. In terms of
employee category, 5 (i.e. 12%), 2 (i.e. 5%) and 35 (i.e.
83%) of employees trained were of executive, technical
and administrative respectively.

During the Reporting Period under review, the Group has
provided a total of 46 training hours for staff, which
averages to 1.30 and 0.91 hours per male and female
staff. In terms of employee category, an average of 2.0,
1.0 and 1.0 training hours per staff were received by
executive, technical and administrative grade employees.
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FY2023 FY2022
2023 B EE 2022 B EE
Trained Average Trained Average
Employee Training hours Employee Training hours
Development and Training® (in percentage) (in hour) (in percentage)? (in hour)
FilEE FHRINMEH FilEE TFHRIMEFH
BER RN (LAE a3 LEsE) (RLINEF D) (e S kst @ (BAINBFED)

Note (1):

Note (2):

The employee’s training data are obtained from the
Company’s human resources department. Training
refers to the vocational training that the employees
of the Company participated in during the year. The
method adopted for the above report on the
number and percentage of trained employees are
based on “How to prepare an ESG Report Appendix
3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” issued by the
Stock Exchange.

The percentages have been restated as the method
on the percentage of trained employees adopted
changes and based on “How to prepare an ESG
Report Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social
KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.
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Aspect B4: Labor Standard

The Group strictly prohibits all forms of child labour,
forced labour or modern slavery. The Group has
established and implemented the staff handbook which
contains concrete policies relating to relevant labor laws,
regulations and industry practices, covering areas such as
compensation, dismissal, promotion, working hours,
recruitment, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity
and other benefits and welfare. Cases of child labour in
our businesses are averted by conducting age verification
of all job applicants.

During the Reporting Period under review, the Group has
encountered no incidents of non-compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations related to anti-child and
anti-forced labour practices at all operating regions. Major
applicable laws and regulations include, but are not
limited to, “Employment Ordinance” of Hong Kong and
the Labor Standards Act in Japan and Taiwan.

Aspect B5: Supply chain management

The Group is committed to developing and maintaining
effective and mutually beneficial working relationships
with our business partners. During the Reporting Period,
the suppliers include mainly sellers from whom the Group
purchase artworks as principal for the artwork sales
segment, property owners who provide venue for artwork
preview exhibition and art auction operation, suppliers of
event organization and accommodation booking services
for the artwork preview exhibition and art auction
operation, suppliers of photo-taking, printing and delivery
services for the auction catalogs, and suppliers of delivery
services for the auctioned artworks and security and
insurance services. During the Reporting Period, the Group
has encountered no incidents of non-compliance with all
related laws and regulations at all operating regions.
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The major suppliers of the Group are located in PRC, AEENZEHEFUAFTE FEK
Hong Kong and Japan. The geographical distribution of BAR - REBHEEOMEIMHHOT o

the suppliers of the Group is as below.

Distribution of suppliers Unit FY2023 FY2022
{4 FE & 5 6 B i 20235 MBUEE 202258 M BEE

The Group generally selects suppliers based on their scale AEE-—BRAHEFNESRAEREE
of business and reputation. The Group also supports and hEHEN AEETXHFRZBIHE
encourages the suppliers to promote efficient use of ARERMERAEREERTENURE
resources and environmental protection and fulfill ThEEHEEF -AEBTRBEME R
corporate social responsibility. The Group will take a fair PR 75 5 8 R ER A B B AR B o

and open principle on procurement of materials and

services.
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The quality of artworks is essential to the Group’s
business as they are the main products. The Group
purchases artworks which the Group believes has
appreciation potential and resell them to independent
third parties. The Group has implemented internal control
and risk management systems to authenticate and value
the artworks. All the artwork sellers must pass the
stringent assessment procedures, such as screening and
authenticate the artworks before purchasing them for
resale. Furthermore, the Group has established Internal
Artwork Appraisal Team and External Artwork Appraisal
Consultants to advise the Group on the authenticity and
valuation of different types of artworks. The team will
authenticate and value them in accordance with the
Group’s internal control policy. The Group would not
approve or purchase from unqualified suppliers.

Furthermore, the Group gradually takes environmental
consideration into account in the procurement process. To
integrate the environmental vision into the procurement
of product supplies, the Group avoids disposable products
and chooses suppliers who provide durable products with
less packaging materials. Priority will be given to
environmentally friendly materials and office goods, so as
to raise the suppliers’ awareness of sustainable
development.

The Group has integrated the pandemic risks into our
enterprise risk management mechanism and future
business plan. We have suspended public activities and
events, in contrast, we utilise new communication
technologies and existing digital infrastructure to facilitate
seamless communication for business continuity ——
conducted auction in our auction online platform. We
keep our customers and supply chain partners informed of
the latest business information and ensure short term
demand-supply synchronization.

Aspect B6: Product responsibility

The Group offers quality products and services grounded
on responsible operating practices. The Group commits to
meeting customer needs through innovation and sound
business ethics.
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Product quality and safety

Assuring the quality and safety of the artworks and
services is of the topmost importance. The Group has
implemented concrete internal control system and risk
management system to authenticate and value the
artworks for auction or for resale. All the artwork must
pass the stringent assessment procedures, such as
screening and authenticating the artworks. Furthermore,
the Group has established an internal artwork appraisal
team and hired external artwork appraisal consultants to
advise the Group on the authenticity and valuation of
different types of artworks. The team, which consist of
well recognised experts and external artwork appraisal
consultants with adequate qualification and experience,
will authenticate and value them in accordance with the
Group'’s internal control policy.

The confirmation of ownership and legality of the source
is crucial before selling the artworks, the Group has
implemented a series of due diligence work on the
background of the artworks. After examined the artworks
and ascertained the provenance of the artwork, the
appraisal team will produce assessment reports. The
internal artwork appraisal team will consider seeking
advice and a second opinion from the external artwork
appraisal consultants if necessary. If there is a discrepancy
on the authentication and valuation of a particular
artwork between the internal artwork appraisal team and
the external artwork appraisal consultants after a detailed
discussion, such particular artwork will not be put for
auction. Otherwise, the final valuation should be the
valuation made by both parties and agreed and confirmed
by the consignor in the signed auction consignment
agreement with us for record and further procedure.

Regarding the artworks on consignment, the Group has
implemented a series of following measures for ownership
confirmation. The Group will not accept any artwork that
we know is subject to title disputes or legal impediments.

o Requests the consignor to provide documents to
prove ownership, authenticity and value of the
artwork and verify the authenticity and origin of the
relevant artwork;
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o Requests the consignor to provide authentication or
artist certificate or previous purchase record in
auction or private transaction, if any;

o Conducts public searches through the internet and
from the public security and court record, including
but not limited to the “Stolen (Lost) Cultural Relics
Information Publishing Platform of China” to retrieve
any record of artworks, if any; and

o Gives representations and warranties to the
ownership and legality of source, and such
representations and warranties are set out as an
express term in the auction consignment agreement
or the sale agreement.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not faced any
major product liability claims, and did not recalled any
products due to safety and health reason. The Group
treats all the complaints and feedback seriously and
handles them in a timely and professional manner. We will
review and investigate the complaints and feedback and
takes the immediate actions when necessary. During the
Reporting Period, the Group had not received any major
customer complaints about the quality of the Group’s
products.

Fair and Open Competition

The Group promotes fair and open competition that aims
to develop long-term relationships with its buyers and
suppliers based on mutual trust. The Group has ensured
the fairness and transparency of the auction. For example,
the background information and facts about the auction
lots would be disclosed in details to public. The Group
implements “Know Your Client” due diligence and client
screening procedures that aim at evaluating the identity,
financial background, reputation and business activities (if
any) of a new seller and buyer. The Group requests the
seller to provide documents to prove ownership,
authenticity and value of the artwork and verify the
authenticity and origin of the relevant artwork on its
own.
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Ethical operating practices

The Group places great value in conducting all aspects of
our businesses with integrity and honest values. From
protection of data privacy and intellectual property to
ethical marketing communication, our robust management
approaches ensure even the most trivial aspects is not
overlooked. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
encountered no incidents of non-compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations related to data privacy,
advertising, labelling matters at all operating regions.
Major applicable laws and regulations include, but are not
limited to, Hong Kong Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance,
Personal Data Protection Act in Japan, the PRC and
Taiwan.

Personal data privacy protection

The Group is committed to protecting privacy and
confidentiality of the collected personal data. The Group
is conscientious about securing communication and data
protection, and the Group respects all individuals’' legal
rights to privacy. As the Group owns electronic artworks
database, online auction platform and information on a
large number of buyers and sellers, regular enhancements
on the anti-virus protection system are proceeded by
information technology personnel. The Group has
established internal policies on handling personal data
recorded from our employees, customers and other
business partners. The Group collects data only in a lawful
and fair way, for directly related purposes of which the
data subject is clearly notified. The employees are
instructed to handle client information with due care and
access to the client information only with good reasons.
The Group collects and uses client information in a
responsible and non-discriminatory manner and has
restricted the use of client information for the purposes
that are only in consistent with those identified in
engagement contracts. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has complied with the requirements of the Personal
Data Ordinance of Hong Kong and Act on the Protection
of Personal Information of Japan.

Environment, Social and Governance Report
B L EREARE

EBREEEH
AEBFERCELETHERBERE
BrHEREHNEE - HREERL
BRHNBERAZERESHEEM BN
MBREENABRREMANER T
SWRES - NMEHA > AEERMEZ
BiRHBESNERBBEALE  E
T BRRFENAEERZIERBAIE
EH-BEAWEREIREAMBFBEAD
BRI & B H (B A E B (RLBR) &P - 2A
RBA -HEEGEN(EAERRE
R e

A &+ 7 B R IZ
AEBAZEREMEEBEABEROLE
MREZ -AEEEEEMETEEAZ
LR Rt EBRBENLREER
R BMRAKEEREEEMRE FEE
B -REHEFARAEERRERD
ER AHEMMRABENETN RS
PiERGR - AEECH EBBEERIE
MeEE FRPEREMEBEHARE
BEABHOALHR - AEERENE
ERRFTABEER WEERAR
TAEENBEGERERNENKEE
H-AEEERRENDLREZEFEHR
REREAEEARFANGBERFA
Bte REBABEERIFERT A WE
MEREFPER YERHELERZ
EEKTIRHENEREFERH - N
FHA AEB-—HETEEN(EAE
K GRLER) 1551 B B A BCE A & #HRIE
EVRIRRTE ©

ERARHEERARAR T _=FFERS 85



Environment, Social and Governance Report

86

23

HekeEARE

Advertising and product labelling

Responsible marketing practices are crucial to gaining
customer trust and confidence. The Group has
implemented clear guidelines on the ethical usage of all
forms of sales promotion and direct marketing and digital
marketing communications. All auction catalogs for
artworks available on our website are reviewed to ensure
the information is complete and accurate. The Group also
produce and distribute self-designed consigned auction
catalogs in our art auctions. Product labelling serves a
critical function, ensuring unique product identification
and that customers are informed of any possible product
risks. Ongoing assessment of policies is conducted
through periodic assessment.

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining the
highest standards of openness, probity and accountability.
Employees at all levels are expected to conduct themselves
with integrity, impartiality and honesty and to comply with
the relevant legal norms and ethical standards. It is every
employee’s responsibility and it is all interest of the
Company to ensure that any inappropriate behavior or
organisational malpractice that compromises the interest
of the shareholders, investors, customers and the wider
public does not occur. During the year, the Group held
internal trainings regarding the anti-corruption and
anti-money laundering, including but not limited to laws
and regulations, and sent out the anti-corruption materials
to the staff. To ensure the continuous enhancement of
our anti-corruption internal controls, the Group conducts
annual corruption risk assessments.

The Group has implemented whistle-blowing policy to
encourage employees and others who have serious
concerns to voice any suspected misconduct, illegal acts or
failure to act. Employees who breach the anti-corruption
policy will face disciplinary action, which could result in
dismissal for serious misconduct. The Group has no
tolerance to any corruption and set whistle-blowing policy
to report any corruption. Whistle-blowers can report
verbally or in writing to the department or the senior
management of the Group with regards to any suspected
misconduct with full details and supporting evidence.
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Furthermore, the Group performs regular screening and
monitoring process after each auction event and conducts
investigation on situations indicating potential
money-laundry activities. If the money-laundry activities
were identified, any suspicious transactions of the
respective seller or buyer will be suspended and the
business relationship with such buyer or seller may be
terminated subject to result of the investigation.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has encountered
no incidents of non-compliance with all applicable laws
and regulations at all operating regions. Major applicable
laws and regulations include, but are not limited to, the
“Criminal and Civil Law"” of the PRC and the “Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance” of Hong Kong. During the
Reporting Period, the Group has strictly abided by all the
rules and regulations, no litigation regarding bribery has
been instituted against the Group and its staff.

Aspect B8: Community investment

Despite the challenging market and economic conditions,
the Group is committed to contributing to socio-economic
development, community well-being and sustainability. For
the Group’s long-term development, community
participation is important. As a responsible corporate
citizen, the Group is constantly aware of the needs and is
committed to promoting development activities of the
community at which the Group operates. The Group also
encourages staff to spend time and efforts in various
community projects and make contributions to the
community.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The Directors submit herewith their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The Group is a well-recognised auction house of Chinese and
Japanese artworks in Hong Kong and Japan. The Group
specialises in auctioneering a wide variety of artworks with
emphasis on Chinese and Japanese artworks, including Chinese
paintings and calligraphies, Chinese antiques and Japanese and
Chinese teawares.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Part of the business review as required under Schedule 5 to the
Companies Ordinance is included in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report on
pages 9 to 16 and such contents form part of this Report of
the Directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 118 of this
annual report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: a final dividend of
HK1.0 cent per ordinary share, absorbing a total amount of
approximately HK$5,000,000).
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five year is set out on page 249 of this
annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted the Dividend Policy, which aims to
set out the principles and guidelines that the Company applies
to the declaration and distribution of dividends to the
Shareholders. The Company may by ordinary resolution declare
appropriate. The
determination to pay dividends will be based on the
Company’s profits, cash flows, financial condition, capital
requirements and other conditions that the Board deems

dividends as the Directors consider

relevant. No dividend shall be payable except out of the profits
or other distributable reserves of the Company available for
distribution. Except as otherwise provided by the Articles or the
rights attached to Shares or the terms of issue thereof, all
dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts
paid up on the Shares on which the dividend is paid. The
Company may pay dividends by any method that the Directors
consider appropriate.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements during the Reporting Period in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in
Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the Reporting Period in the
share capital of the Company are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES ISSUED

The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the
Reporting Period.
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Report of the Directors

gEeHE

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the Reporting Period, save for the Share Option Scheme
as set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of
this Report of the Directors, the Company did not enter into
any other equity-linked agreement, nor did any other equity-
linked agreement exist during the Reporting Period. Please refer
to the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in this Report
of the Directors and Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements for further information about the Share Option
Scheme.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries were a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors (including their spouse and children under 18 years of
age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 122 of this annual
report and Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2023
calculated under Part 6 of the Companies Ordinance amounted
to approximately HK$19.5 million.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date

of this Report of the Directors were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xiangqui) (Chairman)
Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin)

Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai)

Mr. Sun Hongyue

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley

Mr. Chun Chi Man

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley and
Mr. Chun Chi Man are independent non-executive directors and
were appointed for an initial term of three years commencing
from 13 September 2018, which may be terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ written notice. The
term of appointment shall be
automatically for successive term of one year upon expiry of the

renewed and extended

then current term until terminated by either party giving not
less than three months’ written notice to the other.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
Mr. Ando Shokei, Mrs. Ando Eri and Mr. Katsu Bunkai are also
directors in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Other directors of the Company’s subsidiaries during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report were:

Mr. Chak Chi Shing
Ms. Peng Kuan Lin
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Directors’ service contracts

As at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors had a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not terminable within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

The Directors’ remuneration is determined with reference to the
remuneration of the comparable companies, the Directors’ time

contribution, duties and responsibilities and individual
performance as well as the results of the Group.
Biographical details of Directors and senior
management

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set
out in page 17 to 24 of this annual report.

Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company pursuant to which they agreed to
act as executive Directors for an initial term of three years with
effect from 13 September 2018 which may be terminated by
either party by giving not less than three months’ written
notice.

The term of service contract shall be renewed and extended
automatically for successive terms of one year upon expiry of
the then current term until terminated by either party by giving
not less than three months’ written notice.

During the term of the service contract, each of the executive
Directors is entitled to a salary (subject to an annual increment
after 1 April 2019 at the discretion of the Directors of not
more than 10% of the average annual salary for the 12
months immediately prior to such increase).
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In addition, during the term of the service contract, each of the
executive Directors is also entitled to a discretionary
management bonus in such sum as the Board may in its
absolute discretion determine provided that the aggregate
amount of bonuses payable to all the executive Directors for
any financial year of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
audited consolidated or combined net profit attributable to the
shareholders of the Company (after taxation and minority
and payment of but before
extraordinary or exceptional items) in respect of that financial
year of the Company. An executive Director may not vote on
any resolution of the Directors regarding the amount of
management bonus payable to him/her.

interests such bonuses

Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed for an initial term of three years commencing from
13 September 2018, which may be terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ written notice. The term of
appointment shall be renewed and extended automatically for
successive term of one year upon expiry of the then current
term until terminated by either party giving not less than three
months’ written notice to the other. The appointments are
subject to the provisions of the Articles with regard to vacation
of office of Directors, removal and retirement by rotation of
Directors. Each of the independent non-executive Directors is
entitled to a director’s fee of HK$240,000 per annum. Save for
directors’ fees, none of the independent non-executive Directors
is expected to receive any other remuneration for holding their
office as an independent non-executive Director.
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Directors’ and senior management remuneration

Details of the remuneration of the Directors of the Group for
the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 13 and 38 to the
statements of the Company. The
remuneration of each senior management personnel by band is
as follows:

consolidated financial

EEREREREHMN
AEBEENBERENFHABHN AR
AA M BMERMTI3R3I8 - EEMEBREA
EMHFMBLENT :

No of senior

management

EREHEASEHAE

Less than HK$1,000,000 741,000,000 T 2
More than HK$1,000,001 and % %1,000,0015 7T B2

less than HK$2,000,000 2,000,000/% 7T 1

Directors’ interest in transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance

Save as disclosed in Notes 34 and 38 to the consolidated
financial
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or his/her connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting
Period.

statements, no transactions, arrangements and

Changes in Director’s biographical details

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company is not
aware of other changes in the Directors’ information which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

In accordance with the definition of section 469 of the
Companies Ordinance, the permitted indemnity provision in
relation to the director’s and officer’s liability insurance was in
force during the Reporting Period and remains in force as at the
date of this annual report.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus under the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transaction” and the transactions as
disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements,
no controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries has any contract of significance (including contract
of significance for the provision of services) with the Company
or its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management or administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
was entered into or subsisted during the Reporting Period.

PENSION SCHEME

The Group participates
retirement benefit schemes, including the National Pension and
Mandatory Provident Fund for its employees in Japan and Hong
Kong, respectively. The Group’s contributions vest fully with the

in several defined contribution

employees when such contributions are made into these
pension schemes. Accordingly, no forfeited contribution is
available for the Group to reduce
contributions to the respective pension schemes. Further details
of the pension scheme of the Company are set out in the
paragraph headed “Pension Obligations” in Note 2.22(b) to the

consolidated financial statements.

its existing level of

Report of the Directors
EFRRE

ERRREEXSHPHHER

RBEHEA BRERERFIHEHER S
—ER PR R E KA G S IR M 34T R A
R HH  BEEAR R B S H AT BT B A R E R
REARNRBIEMBRABTZLEMERE D
(BREHRBHOEKREGHL) -

EEHEHN
ROER S AR - 75 R B3 A 5 7K 4R B 2 B0 ST A1)
EABAEBZERRTRIFILIRNEA
GOV

BH2E
AEBREAAREAERERELESZBERMH
REKRBAEE ERERFERAHIERE
T ARBEHERNAZF RS EMFELH#
AEEHHFEEBES - Fit > ARE I ER W
AT D B B RS8R A 30K
Fo RARARAKEFENE - THBRANA G
MBmAME2.220)F EREEE] B

ERARHEERARAR T _=FFERS 95



Report of the Directors
FEERs

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on
13 September 2018. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Company to grant share options to selected
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to
the Group. All directors, employees, suppliers of goods or
services, customers, persons or entities that provide research,
development or other technological support to the Group,
shareholders of any member of the Group,
consultants of the Group and any other group or classes of
participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement
to growth of the Group are eligible to participate in the Share
Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing on its adoption date and
will be expired on 12 September 2028. The total number of
Shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue on 11 October
2018 (being the date of listing of Shares of the Company) (the
“General Scheme Limit").

advisers or

On 24 April 2023, 48,000,000 share options were granted to
certain Director, senior managements and employees of the
Group, as disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 24 April 2023.

As at the date of this Report of the Directors, the total number
of Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was 2,000,000 Shares, representing 0.4% of the issued share
capital of the Company. The Company may renew the General
Scheme Limit with Shareholders’ approval provided that each
such renewal may not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of the Shareholders’ approval. The maximum number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time. Unless approved by the shareholders
of the Company, the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each
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participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company for the time being. An
option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from
the date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of
an option. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period
to be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of
the option, subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and
stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee, there
is no minimum period required under the Share Option Scheme
for the holding of an option before it can be exercised. The
subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day; and
(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant.
No share options have been granted, exercised or cancelled by
the Company under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption and up to the date of this Report of the Directors.
During the Reporting Period, no share options have been
outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
THE SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2023,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company whose
interests are disclosed under the sub-paragraph headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares and debentures of the
company or any of its associated corporations” below, no other
persons had an interest or a short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the
“SFO").

INTEREST IN
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Name of Group
member/associated

EERRBITBHASRAAEHH
EfIAEEEN G - HEKRG RE
EEPHERRIRE

#2023F3A31H A RREZERZRITEHA
ERAARKEMAHZE(TEREFRBRE
RBIEXVED) M th - MR REEES#E
BEREBEZBHFRPEROFEIVGELEHRERTE
ZERMEER RAR - SRR AR I 8%
THEMNEZETAESITANE AR R RBR
TS RARWT

Approximate
percentage of
Number of shares interest held in

Name corporation Nature of interest interested the Company
AEATHAEWH
FEEREAT Emz@y
2 HEEE 2R My BAEEZRHEE BSL
(Note 1)
(P =£1)
Mr. Ando Shokei The Company Beneficial owner 374,967,278(L) 75%
22 B AE R A& ZAN/NE EmEAA
Mrs. Ando Eri The Company Interest of spouse 374,967,278(L) 75%
(Note 2)
THEBEL LT INYNE Al B s (M EE2)
Mr. Katsu Bunkai TCA Japan Beneficial owner 50 class A shares(L) 5%
(Note 3) SOAR A% A% 17 (L)
EX %L TCAR R EmEA A MEE3)
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Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes the Directors’ long position in the shares
of the Company or the relevant associated corporation.

2. Mrs. Ando Eri is the spouse of Mr. Ando Shokei. Under the SFO,
Mrs. Ando Eri is taken to be interested in the same number of
Shares in which Mr. Ando Shokei is interested.

3. These shares represent class A shares in TCA Japan held by
Mr. Katsu Bunkai. Shareholders of class A shares in TCA Japan
do not have any voting right at the general meeting of
shareholders of TCA Japan.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code and the

Companies Ordinance.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The customers under the art auction and related business
primarily include sellers who consign artworks to the Group for
the auctions and buyers who purchase artworks in the art
To the best knowledge of the Directors, the
customers under the segment are generally comprised of
artwork interested parties including artworks artists, masters,
experts, merchants, collectors, art galleries and private
museums.

auctions.

The suppliers mainly include sellers from whom the Group
purchase artworks as principal for the artwork sales segment,
property owners who provide venue for artwork preview
exhibition and art auction operation, suppliers of event
organisation and accommodation booking services for the
artwork preview exhibition and art auction operation, suppliers
of photo-taking, printing and delivery services for the auction
catalogs, and suppliers of delivery services for the auctioned
artworks and security and insurance services.
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The information of the customers and suppliers is as follows: ERPREEFNERDAT

Percentage of
total sales for the
year ended

31 March 2023

& =202343A31H
I FEEHEHE
Bkt

Five largest customers RREP 7.6%

The largest customer xREP 24.1%

Percentage of total
purchase for the

year ended

31 March 2023

# =2023%3A31H

ILEFEEERE

Bk

Five largest suppliers hARHER 4.9%
The largest supplier & AR 18.1%

Note: The percentage of total sales from the five largest customers Bt : #H ZE2023F3F31BIEFE  KBERAARFE

was represented by total sales to the five largest customers WAAHE B D LLIEM A KXE P IEH 88 15
divided by aggregate harmer price and total sales for the year ERAEERERBIHE - B1E2023F3A
ended 31 March 2023. The percentage of total purchase from BMAEFE REAAHEENBEEER
five largest suppliers was presented by total purchase from the SDLELERBARHEEEOEEBRNUNEE
five largest suppliers divided by aggregate harmer price and FREBENREE -

total purchase for the year ended 31 March 2023.

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their FESH HMEESE  FENBTHE AL
close associates or shareholders holding more than 5% of the #BAXRQAREEITIRMS%IA FHRERERE
issued shares of the Company had any interest in the five BERAAEFSKAAHEE TP EETMRER -
largest customers or five largest suppliers of the Group.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the
ordinary course of business by the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. Each of such related party
transactions constitute connected transactions (as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) which are fully exempted
from the shareholders’ approval,
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing

annual review and all

Rules.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and as far as the Directors are aware as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
minimum public float under the Listing Rules.

COMPETING BUSINESS

The compliance of the controlling shareholder of the Company,
namely Mr. Ando Shokei, of the non-competition undertakings
entered into in favour of the Company on 13 September 2018
is set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or the
controlling shareholder of the Company or their respective close
associates are considered to be interested in businesses which
compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the core businesses of the Group.

Report of the Directors

EFEeRE

BAEETT X 5
AEBRBEHEEFEBEBERETHOH

B2 SHBRAKERS G BERRME
M ERERBFRBBRBERS (TER
EHBAEIAE)  EERERRET TR
BIZ1AASE B T RE I - FEEHRFAE
TR - Btk - AR AEARE EHREIE14A
EUFHERE -

ABFERE
REFDATESHAHENREAESA
BRAFREH ARFEES EHRAUR
EHREDTHERE -

RPER
AKABERBR DL RELE BFR
20185F9RA13R BA R Al Fl 2 H B &9 1 35 7K
EHBREREEERAREAN -

REEHE EARRESHIERBRRIHE

EENEERBARISNEREEZLE
BEERXEEGFAAERFOXBHEERE

2% o
I
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gEeHE

EMPLOYEES

The number of employees as at 31 March 2023 is set out
under “Management Discussion and Analysis — Employees and
emolument policy” on page 16 of this annual report. During
the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience any strikes
or significant labour disputes which materially affected the
operation of the Group. The Group maintained good
relationship with its employees.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event after the end of the Reporting
period of the Group.

USE OF PROCEEDS

From the Global Offering

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 11 October 2018 and the Company received
net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) (after
underwriting commission and related costs and expenses) from
the global offering of approximately HK$110.0 million. On
26 March 2021, the Company has resolved to change the use
of the unutilised net proceeds of approximately HK$27.3 million
(the "Reallocation”). For details, please refer to the prospectus
(the "Prospectus”) of the Company dated 27 September 2018
in relation to the global offering and the announcement of the
Company dated 26 March 2021 (the “Announcement”).

deduction of
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As at 31 March 2023, the Net Proceeds had been partially
utilised by the Company and applied for as follows:

Planned use of

Amount of

Amount utilised

EEEWmE

MR2023F3A318 KRR E BB I D ATE K
EHE  FRBANT

Net Proceeds as  Reallocation as Amount  during the year Amount Unutilised Net
disclosed in the  disclosed in the utilised as at ended utilised as at  Proceeds as at
Prospectus  Announcement 1 April 2022 31 March 2023 31 March 2023 31 March 2023
gz
BRER 202343A318 R2023%3A318
BENFERE  AAEMKRE  R20254A18 LLEE  1#2023%3A318 e K E R Y
FEGHRE EHSENLE FaRAneE FaRneE GEEER FRRESH
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(BBAT) (A8%ET) (8% (8% (8% (BE8#T)
iy Strengthening and MEREREE
expanding existing auction HEEH
business 62.7 (22.8) (39.9) - (39.9) -
(i) Enhancing marketing and mEEERERE
promotional activities B8 22.0 - (18.7) (3.3) (22.0) —
(iii) Recruiting high-calibre RESLTZENER
managers and experts AT RER 8.8 — (6.9 (1.9 8.8) —
(iv) Developing the Group's ERP  HRA%EM A E
system ERBEZS 5.5 (4.5) (1.0) — (1.0) —
(v) Supplementing the Group's ~ FZAEBMNEE
working capital and for AeRfi—&
general corporate AFIRR
purposes 1.0 — (11.0) - (11.0) -
(vi) Developing an artwork FRELRHR
business for online trading EHTam
and information platform BiimER — 273 (1.9) @.7) (6.6) 20.7
1100 - (79.4) 99 893) 207
The unutilised Net Proceeds as at 31 March 2023 are expected 7202393 A31H M A AR ERIBZETE

to be fully utilised on or before 31 March 2025.

HARA20255%3 A31H ek 2 RIBREE A -

ERARHEERARAR T _=FFERS
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has

established an audit committee in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. It comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lam Suk
Ling Shirley (chairlady), Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John and
Mr. Chun Chi Man.

The audit committee has reviewed with the management of the
Group the accounting principles and standards adopted by the
Group, and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the review of this annual report and
the audited annual financial results of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period
have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
("HLB"). A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming
annual general meeting (the “AGM") to re-appoint HLB as
auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the next AGM
of the Company.

HLB was appointed as the auditor of the Company from
26 February 2021 following the resignation of
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Saved as disclosed above, the
Company did not change its auditor in the past three years.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group is included in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements and such contents form part of this Report of the
Directors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to environmental protection and values
corporate social responsibilities. The Group continues to update
internal policies and programmes for environmental risk
prevention to ensure compliance with requirements of
applicable industrial and local standards, laws, regulations and
policies. The Group also continues to implement environmental
protection, energy saving and emission reduction projects to
improve environmental management, setting a solid foundation
for better future development.

ACCOUNT OF THE GROUP KEY RELATIONSHIP
Employees

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable
assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
is to recognise high
performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration

resource management reward and
package and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by offering appropriate training
and providing opportunities within the Group for career
advancement.

Suppliers

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Major Customers and
Suppliers” in this Report of the Directors for details of the
suppliers of the Group. Sound relationships with suppliers of
the Group are important for the Group’s business, which can
derive cost effectiveness and long term business benefits.

Customers

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Major Customers and
Suppliers” in this Report of the Directors for details of the
customers of the Group. The Group has the mission of sourcing
excellent artworks with good provenance to explore and collect
more valuable artworks for auction by its customer whilst
maintaining long term profitability and business growth. Various
means have been taken to strengthen the communications
between customers and the Group.
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Report of the Directors

EFEeRE

IRIEBR
AEBRORDRR ERLEHEE
%@#f%%ﬁﬂ%%@@mm%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ

Feox

C ARECRIBSTE BT EMM TR R
%E@IJ&BZ RHIRE - ARBFREHRTRR
EBE MR FIRR MR EREBEEE - RAKH

RP BE

FEERETRERAR -

ARENEERZA
Es
BMREEATEEGRREEREENEE -
AEBANEREENENABIREERFN
E’J 5B 0B AT B M B GEEAEHIE - kT
HERE HMaRNRIRBEFHE
T UERRHBEHEINERNERNE A%
T MR EEFERREEER-

B rE

FRAASENHRERFE F2HAESER
SEBEPRHER] —B - BAKENHE
BETROIBRUAKRENEBEZMREER - 7
REKRARm R EREHEM= -

'R

FRASENEFPHE H2HAEEERE
(EEEPMHERE| K AEEHE® 7%&
REZ(XREE REEFINHEEWD
NREFFERSE TEEEEHHE’JE’%HD%?%
K- ﬁﬂf‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬁ&?}ibﬂﬁs@%}f‘éﬁﬂi%
EIOp 3

105



Report of the Directors

gEeHE

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of
any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that
had a significant impact on the Group in all material respects.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Board has reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance practices and is satisfied that
the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTION
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ transactions on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code. After specific
enquiry made by the Company, all Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code and the code of conduct of the Company
governing Directors’ securities transactions during the Reporting
Period.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

On behalf of the Board

Ando Shokei
Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B it E S AR A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

To the Members of Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tokyo
Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 118 to 247, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2023, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgment,

were of most significance in our audit of the

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

PSR EEIH
ARBAFEHIRERMANERHE  RRY
AHAEHMBRENBEARS/EEZNFTR &
LEERERMEFTBEREHMBERR LD
ARRFETREN BT SHELERE
HEBNER -

on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
FEETEIR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWE I EEREETEIE

Net realisable value (“NRV”) of the inventories
HFEZUERFE(TERFED

Refer to note 2.12, note 4.1 and note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.
FLHE MM mERME2.12 - M4 R 22 -

As at 31 March 2023, the balance of artwork inventories
was HK$129.2 million, which represented 27.7% of the
total assets of the Group as at 31 March 2023.
M2023F3A3MR B mEFEZA B /1222888
TLoih BEEER2023F3A31HREEN27.7% °

Artwork inventories are measured at the lower of cost
and net realisable value

Our procedures in relation to the net realisable value
of artwork inventories including but not limited to:
BMEBAENREFE2AZRFENREFBEFEET
PR

assessing the external art experts’ experience,
qualifications and credentials by inspecting the
Group's records and information in the public

domain;
BiERE EEEEARLEENEHEEERK

FHEIN RN ERN LR ERMNERE
obtaining the external valuation reports for
artwork inventories as at 31 March 2023 and
comparing valuation amount of artworks
inventories to the net realisable value of the
artwork inventories, on a sample basis;

1§ 7R2023F3 A31 B M2 M1z & NS 1E
RE UTHEMATENGESEEENAT

BER A #RFEETHERLER

assessing, on a sample basis, whether there were
any losses or damage to art inventories by
attending the inventory count with the
assistance of the external art experts; and
ENBEMMmERNOBE T BABFHEFER
LMBHMHiuHEf%ﬁmuuﬁiéi%mEEHTE%&
BE R
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB ET AR B R ETHIE

We identified the assessment of the net realisable value
of artworks inventories as a key audit matter because the
judgement exercised by the management in determining
the net realisable value of artwork inventories, which can
be inherently uncertain, and because the impact on the
consolidated financial statements could be material.
BMETRENREEC AR FEETRARETS
B AAREEEEECEMnEEr 2R FERMITE
B HIET PR B A AERN T - Br e & 0t B R
REKBEATE -

] obtaining an understanding of recent market
trends for artwork inventories, on a sample
basis, by inspecting recent auction prices and

publicly available
enquiring internal artwork appraisal team in the
auction division and applying the information
obtained from the procedures
evaluation of the net realisable value of artwork
inventories.

MDA REARESTHHEERREM AR

ABEEARAMEBFAN AN EN mETEE

BER THRENREFEEAOHTHBY - L&

BB LAREFRENESERARENRTFEZ

A] &R R E RS -

other information and

above in

Based on our work performed, we found that the net
realisable value of inventories were supportable by
available evidence.

T BRS¢
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Key Audit Matter
FE SRR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB ET AR B S ETHIE

Impairment of consignor advance and
prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork
EFRAEARARERBGEHNEZENRAEREFHR
IERY iR (B

Refer to note 2.10, note 2.13, note 3.2, note 23 and
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
FE2HE MM BRERMEE2.10 - BHEE2.13 ~ BHEE3.2
Mt 5E23 [ P 5524 o

As at 31 March 2023, the balance of consignor
advance and prepayments to sellers for auctioned
artwork was HK$51.7 million and HK$36.6 million,
respectively, which represented 11.1% and 7.9% of
the total assets of the Group as at 31 March 2023,
respectively.

M2023F3A31H EFXABNRERREHE LN
mABRANNRBEZERDANRNTEEE TR
36.6ASBETL HhlE EXEERN2023F3A31HAE
ER11.1%K%7.9% °

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on impairment of consignor advance and prepayments to
sellers for auctioned artwork including but not limited
to:
BMAEEREETHEZERARNRERR D HEEMMm
MERBENORBRENEFEEETRER :

o understanding and assessing the design,
implementation of key internal control over the
management’s approval process of granting
consignor advance and prepayments to sellers for
auctioned artwork;
THREIHEEERARENEZEATRMNRIER
REMELNMN MR E REN S RIB AR E T
s ED R R A R E B

o discussing with management on the nature and
judgement involved in their assessment on the
recoverability of individual significant balances for
consignor advance and prepayments to sellers for
auctioned artwork by considering the credit history
and worthiness of the consignors and sellers and
corroborated their explanations with supporting
evidences to evaluate whether specific provision
should be made;
REBZEXIARBZRNGEELBREEE HE
BERZEAENZRELREHEEMRAER
FENERENBZERERO KT - 5w
ENERMESNME RAE  MEERSHOE
BEAXHIE UTEBREEAFTEFLHEEN
B fm
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB ET AR B R ETEIE

Consignor advance
ZAEA B HE

The Group provides certain collectors and art dealers
with advances with artwork held under the Group’s
custody. If the consigned artwork is sold in auction,
the proceeds received from the buyer, after deducting
commission, consignor advance, interest and relevant
taxes, will be paid to the consignor. If the artwork
under custody remains unsold, the consignor will be
required to repay the advance together with interest,
where applicable, before the artwork under custody is
returned to the consignor.

EEEN SEEEFEMFANEMNmEE TRR R
BMABARMKENRIE - IRXEXZEM MmN A
BERELH RERMGZAEIE(KHKAS £
FEATRNIE - FERBEAHE) SEXNTEREA -
MRFAEZBMBNAEL  EXTAEFREEM MR
BIZFEAR - BABERMNKBCGERFE - 0F) -

checking, on a sample basis, the approval of
consignor advances and prepayments to sellers for
auctioned artwork by tracing to agreements and
payment records;

FRMEREHE M REHEARESZTEAERN
REMRERELEMNmEERENNRIAZFL

obtaining the full list of consignor advance and
prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork, and
checked, on a sample basis, whether these
advances and prepayments to sellers for auctioned
artwork are supported by the artwork under the
custody of the Group;
BEEFARNRELRRERERZNTmAERE
MHRENTEFERABEARABREZELRE
AFER IR KN E B E 2 i an A B R FE AR08
EEBEMmE SEEBEFTE
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Key Audit Matter
g S EIR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB ET AR B EETHIE

Prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork
B E 0 & B g /7] B 5 78 17 B9 0 H

Prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork represent
the amounts advanced to sellers of auctioned artwork
before receiving full payments from relevant buyers.
Amounts may be advanced to sellers prior to receiving
full payment of the auction purchase prices from the
relevant buyers and the Group will keep the related
auctioned artwork under its custody. Prior to receiving
full payment of the auction purchase prices from the
relevant buyers, the Group reserves the right to
request repayment from sellers for the prepayments
advanced to them, or request the sellers to replace
another artwork with estimated value no less than the
prepayments to the Group.
HREHEBMNmMERBENORBERAMNEBE
RYPBMEMEENmEHEFEMBANTERZER -
CHARNRAKIEBEREZRXNHEBEEN
REMANTER - EEESREHEEHEZR
MmBEEE REINERAERTBRINHERER
MHER - EXEERBERBERERCENTERS
MIENRIE  HBKERER S —BHEBEMEFT D
R EEEEENTANRBZEMmEER -

The Group established policies to ensure that
advances are made to consignors and sellers with an
appropriate credit history and the Group assesses the
credit worthiness of its consignors and sellers as well
as considering prior transaction history with these
consignors and sellers.

EEEFARRUERENKREDREELHKRS
MEFTARBEREL I EEETHREEZEFARE
FNEEE TZRZEZTARERNXSHES -
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o assessing, on a sample basis, whether the artwork
under the Group’s custody was in good condition
by attending the physical count of the artwork

with assistance of the external art experts;
EIHBMBERNGET - BER SR
EEENBEMm UHEFXTEHENRZE
TR AT

.

iy

o on a sample basis, obtaining and reviewing the
valuation assessments for the artwork under the
Group’s custody prepared by the internal artwork
appraisal team. We inquired of the internal artwork
appraisal team about the factors they considered in
their assessments and compared the assessments by
referencing to the recent market prices for similar

artwork on a sample basis;

At h ARG RERNAANLEMN R ETEHK
o BEREFEENRMMATETZHENE - M
MAREMmETERARRFETHERERE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB ET AR B R ETHIE

Management has applied HKFRS 9 and conducted an
assessment of expected credit losses (“ECL") relating
to the consignor advance and prepayments to sellers
for auctioned artwork. The Group considers that the
credit risk arising from these advances and
prepayments is not significant after considering the
credit history and worthiness of the consignors and
sellers as well as the market value of the relevant
artwork held by the Group.
ERECERBEAMBRELENFIRLUEFLTARE
NRELREHEEMmAERANNRIELETRE
HEEBE((HYPEEEBE]) TG - BEEBEFEA
REZNEERERERENAK EXEHENHERH
BlmTER  BSE£ERAEFEARRMNKIERST
ERBEEMmABRENNORENEERRIE TS
X o

The Group’s internal artwork appraisal team has
assessed and evaluated the market value of the
artwork under its custody based on the recent market
prices of similar artwork so to determine if the
amount of allowance made is adequate.

EEENANBENmETER D REBRIEN M
M SERYETEN BN MmO mISEEETT
ERHEE NETHMEZBERERH -

We identified impairment of consignor advance and
prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork as a key
audit matter because of its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and because the
judgement exercised by management in determining
an appropriate level of loss allowances for these
advances and prepayments involves assessment on
creditability of consignors and sellers as well as
estimation of the market value of artwork under the
Group’s custody, which can be inherently uncertain.
BHMBAEFAENKEREEMELEMmAER
BN RENRERBRESFEH BRAEHNAH
MERREEEAZEHEERBRNRETLXEFEZTEA
BNREELREHEENmAZERENNOTIBEE
RENEBERBGRELNABGSRTEETALE
KNEREUNLMEET EEEFXENEMBOTSE
B HEAXBE LA AETHEEN -

o on a sample basis,

evaluating management'’s

assessment of the values of artwork under the

Group’s custody based on

the valuation

assessments performed by the internal artwork
appraisal team and discussing with management on
the means of realisation of the artwork under the

Group's custody and the expected cash flows to be
recovered from the artwork, and comparing the
carrying value of the consignor advance and
prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork with

the value of artwork on a sample basis; and

REAFEMRETBEKETHMBE  AMET
AFEEEEYE EEEXENEMRNEED

Al TERERESN® BEXRERENENME
+ A

REHERZEFEMREERSREN TN

EAMBEAABEEARNRELRCHEZNM
mABRBANNRIBZ EEERENRNEEE

HEE &

. on a sample basis,
settlement of the consignor

checking the subsequent
advance as at

31 March 2023 with bank receipts or other

relevant documents.

LA AR 7 R A8 M2023F3H31H £ 5F A T8 IEH)

HREFTRRITWBESEMBRE X T ETRE

Based on our

o

work performed, we found that

management’s estimates and judgment were supported

by available evidence.

RERMBETHIE RMARSEEENMGT RABE

AT EELS -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ "Other

Information”).

report thereon (the

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

influence the economic

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group'’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

HEERAKECESTERMNKEN
e o IRIBPTERKEERE  BE
ERFEREERABREBENEANTE
EME - mAlReEsE SEENFEL
BRNELEARE NREFMABSF
EERTHEEN  AFLBEEZEER
THRFEAEIZAHTBRRDE
HERE - REABRHKETE - AT
EEZRFERBEER BAANERZ
ERNZHBARE A EANBHESE
&AM RERFHESIFERAAELENR &
SETRERELE -

TEAHVBRRNERIBIN &
BNAZR  BREEE  UNREHFMB®RE
REERERBBERISMER-

O EEEAERIERIHNMBE
BERAR HBENSETRE UEHSE
HUBRERERER - BMAEEERE
TR AR BE BT c KM AETER
EEZRHEE-

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement director on the audit in this
independent auditors’ report is Yau Wai Ip.

resulting

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yau Wai Ip
Practising Certificate Number: P07849

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EHiEm R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
HE2023F3A31HLEFE

Hih&mz S W m &

2023 2022
2023% 20224
Note HKS'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FERT FAET
Revenue Wrds 6 72,762 79,597
Costs of services RIS (7.851) (9,541)
Costs of sales of goods B i AR (11,590) (1,087)
Gross profit ERH 3 53,321 68,969
Other losses, net H fih 5518 5 %8 7 (1,712) (3,305)
Other income H A ‘ 8 1,470 1,400
Provision for allowance for ECL cMEERBEE
on financial assets BB IR (2,382) (1,197)
Selling and distribution expenses — $§%& &9 55 (24,937) (20,363)
Administrative expenses THHAX (34,250) (36,603)
Operating (loss)/profit BE(BR) ama (8,490) 8,901
Finance income LR R N 10 176 1,196
Finance costs B 7 B AR 10 (1,037) (1,621)
Finance costs, net BF T A AN BR 10 (861) (425)
Reversal of impairment loss on AR AT R
investment accounted for using B RBEEE
the equity method 1 ol = 2,846
Share of result on investment EhERER A
accounted for using the equity PIBR 218 B A
method 19 872 709
(Loss)/profit before income BrPTiSBia (B518) 7 9
tax i 7l (8.479) 12,031
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiEe,/ (AX) 11 197 (3,393)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BE) i (8,282) 8,638
(Loss)/profit attributable to: UT&FHE
(B548) its I
Owners of the Company RKRBIHEA A (8,286) 8,434
Non-controlling interests eI 4 204
(8,282) 8,638
(Loss)/earnings per share for ARXATHEH AFEL
profit attributable to owners i ¥ B 8 i
of the Company BiE) &
Basic and diluted (HK cents) H A K #58 OB l) 12 HK(1.66) cents HK1.69 cents

(1.66) 7 1l

1.6975 1

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensi
& 018 2 & H h 47

ve Income

BRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

B E2023F3A31HIEFE
2023 2022
2023% 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(FBE) MR (8,282) 8,638
Other comprehensive loss: HibFEE1E
ltem that may be reclassified HEgngEsmossms
subsequently to profit or loss BxmIEE
Exchange difference on translating BMEBINEBEE
foreign operations B DE X ZE B8 (7,651) (6,082)
Total other comprehensive loss for FEHMGERELEE -
the year, net of tax N IE (7,651) (6,082)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income EELZE (BiE) WA
for the year 4aEE (15,933) 2,556
Total comprehensive (loss)/income LT&FEEEELEZS
for the year attributable to: (B518) "W\ 4885 -
Owners of the Company KABHEA A (15,623) 2,699
Non-controlling interests FEE AR HE = (310) (143)
(15,933) 2,556
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other Eili & ffi8z Kk H b 48 & Uk % 5 FE B2 B8 B BT

comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the i — GF B o

accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CRiL R R

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023
M2023F3A31H

2023 2022
20234 20224F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
(N2 F#ET FHET
Assets BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BELZRE 15 5,984 6,414
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 3,364 8,150
Intangible assets \ B E 17 3,792 5,484
Investment accounted for using FRAEREEYER
the equity method ZI|E 19 5,846 6,089
Financial assets at fair value BRFEFTAERZ
through profit or loss THEE 20 850 2,500
Deferred income tax assets EEMSHREE 21 1,363 1,360
Deposits and prepayments Be RIBEMNRKIE 24 30 1,080
21,229 31,077
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 22 129,248 136,624
Trade and other receivables B 5N E e W k1B 23 181,807 250,271
Deposits and prepayments Ze RIBAHKIEA 24 60,885 50,411
Current income tax recoverable Al el g B FT IS R 1,552 —
Pledged bank deposits EEBRITER 25 4,000 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents BeNMIREeEEY 25 67,280 108,698
444,772 550,004
Total assets MEE 466,001 581,081
Equity Ex
Equity attributable to owners AXASHEH AEE
of the Company #x
Share capital g AR 26 169,730 169,730
Reserves & 27 89,587 110,210
259,317 279,940
Non-controlling interests FE 4= R HE 3,771 4,081
Total equity WD 263,088 284,021
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

& BE A RO

=

AS AT 31 MARCH 2023

M202343A31AH
2023 2022
20234 20224
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FETT FETT
Liabilities BfE
Non-current liabilities EREBERTE
Other payables H b & 7T 5B 29 — 1,016
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 1,513 2,456
Borrowings & & 28 30,735 38,807
Deferred income tax liabilities BEXFEHRAaE 21 2,210 2,534
34,458 44,813
Current liabilities REBAEE
Other payables and accruals H b & 3 K AT
=9 29 146,596 220,852
Lease liabilities HEBaE 16 2,597 6,592
Borrowings & & 28 18,597 21,138
Current income tax liabilities BHEHAas 665 3,665
168,455 252,247
Total liabilities BE®EE 202,913 297,060
Total equity and liabilities ERREREEH 466,001 581,081

The above consolidated statement of financial position should | ifi & 3F B 5 AR 0% 3% FE B BE B B s — (3 R 38
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

o

The consolidated financial statements on pages 118 to 247 $118%F2478 2 & M8 #& | % 7202346 529

were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2023 and RHEZEZef AT HUTESAAZE -
were signed on its behalf.

Ando Shokei Ando Eri
ZRAE ZERERE
Director Director
EFE EF

ERHARHEERARARA T _=FFERS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SO EmEH R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

B E2023F3A31BILFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
EASHEE AR
Share Other Non-
capital reserves Retained controlling
(Note 26) (Note 27) earnings Sub-total interests Total equity
(S Hith i 1E
(BtaE26) (Bf&E27) REEH et EERED stk
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FERT FTERT FTERT FERT FTERT
Balance at 1 April 2021 202148181 169,730 (47,180) 159,691 282,241 4,224 286,465
]
Profit for the year EERT — - 8,434 8,434 204 8,638
Other comprehensive loss HihZEHE
— Exchange difference on — REBIIEBESE
translating foreign B FE N =5
operations — (5,735) — (5,735) (347) (6,082)

Total comprehensive income/ EEZEKN
(loss) for the year (B518) 8% — (5,735) 8,434 2,699 (143) 2,556

Final dividend declared and paid B &k &8
RERR B — — (5,000) (5,000) — (5,000)

Balance at 31 March 2022 and #202253HA31H &

1 April 2022 20224481818
“®ee 169,730 (52,915) 163,125 279,940 4,081 284,021
Loss for the year EEBE = = (8,286) (8,286) 4 (8,282)
Other comprehensive loss HibZEHE
— Exchange difference on — BREBIINEBRESE
translating foreign RERZE
operations = (7,337) = (7,337) (314) (7,651)

Total comprehensive loss for EEHAEHEEHE
the year = (7,337) (8,286) (15,623) (310) (15,933)

Final dividend declared and paid 2k &8
RERR B — — (5,000) (5,000) — (5,000)

Balance at 31 March 2023 120235F3H318 1)
&®eR 169,730 (60,252) 149,839 259,317 3,771 263,088

=

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should it & Gf 4% 25 5 B 3K JE B2 B8 P BT 5% — T B8 38
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SEHETRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

B E2023F3A31HIEFE
2023 2022
2023% 2022%F
Note HK$000 HK$'000
B 5 TER FHET
Cash flow from operating activities EZ2FHZHELFRE
Cash used in operations KEZEKAR 31(a) (12,364) (19,898)
Income tax paid B EH (4,160) (3,393)
Net cash used in operating EEEEA
activities REFHE (16,524) (23,291)
Cash flow from investing activities REFHZHLEKE
Purchase of property, plant and BEME BENX
equipment B (725) (592)
Purchase of intangible assets BERLEE — (303)
Release of pledged bank deposits R EEARITER = 1,388
Interest received 2 F B 176 1,196
Net cash (used in)/generated from ‘’EFH (A
investing activities BR&FE (549) 1,689

ERHARHEERARARA T _=FFERS 123



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
HE2023F3A31HLEFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
b= FHET FH T
Cash flow from financing activities RIEFHZHLKE
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEAE 36 (6,558) (7,036)
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITE RIS A 36 14,561 13,910
Repayment of borrowings BEEX 36 (20,965) (19,477)
Interest paid SENEAIRS (686) (1,135)
Dividend paid B AR S (5,000) (5,000)
Net cash used in financing activities RIZEEFA
B&%8E (18,648) (18,738)
Net decrease in cash and cash HERBEE£EEY
equivalents WY iFHE (35,721) (40,340)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#R & MR&SH
of the year B 108,698 153,631
Effect of foreign exchange rate change [ER & &)5 & (5,697) (4,593)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FREERREE
of the year B9 25 67,280 108,698
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read EHBENEREEBEN T —H6E -

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. Its
ultimate controlling party is Mr. Ando Shokei (“Mr.
Ando”), who is also the chairman and executive director
of the Company. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Room 2601, 26/F, Wing on Centre, No. 111
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company’s subsidiaries principally engage in the provision
of auction and related services as well as artwork sales in
Hong Kong and Japan.

The Company's shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company, unless otherwise
stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which is a
collective term that includes all applicable individual
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA"”), and accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and the applicable
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap.622).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& OF B 15 R MY
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

126

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The Company has delivered the statutory annual
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2022 to the Registrar of Companies as
required by section 662(3) of, and Part 3 of
Schedule 6 to, the Companies Ordinance, and will
deliver the statutory annual consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 in
due course.

The Company’s independent auditor has reported on
those financial statements. The independent auditor’s
report was unqualified; did not include a reference
to any matters to which the auditor drew attention
by way of emphasis without qualifying its report;
and did not contain a statement under sections
406(2), 407(2) or (3) of the Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Application of New and Amendments to Hong

Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for their annual reporting period
commencing 1 April 2022 for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Application of New and Amendments to Hong 2.2
Kong Financial Reporting Standards

("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have issued but not

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12
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POLICIES (Continued)

2.2

2.3

Application of New and Amendments to Hong

Kong Financial Reporting Standards

("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective (Continued)

; Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2024.

The directors anticipate that the application of all the
new and amendments to HKFRSs will
material

have no
impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the

Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable

returns from its involvement with the

investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect
its returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity,
relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

income, expenses and cash flows

2
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POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(a)

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Non-controlling
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein,

interests in subsidiaries are
which represent present ownership
entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

interests

The Group reassesses whether or not it
controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described in
the accounting policy for subsidiaries below. A
change in the ownership
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

interest of a

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded
in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of
the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of
any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or
appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of

loss or retained profits, as

the related assets or liabilities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
(b) Subsidiaries

(c

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income to the extent of
dividends The
Company’s in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

received and receivable.

investments

Interest in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.
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POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

()
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Interest in associates (Continued)
The results and assets and
associates are incorporated in
consolidated financial
equity method of accounting, except when the
investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as
held for sale, in which case it is or the portion

liabilities of
these
statements using the

so classified is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations.
portion of an investment in an associate that
has not been classified as held for sale
continues to be accounted for using the equity

Any retained

method. The financial statements of associates
used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as
those of the Group for like transactions and
events Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in
statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or
comprehensive income of the associate.
Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for
changes resulted in changes in ownership held
by the Group. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that,
part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising

in similar circumstances.

the consolidated

loss and other

unless such

in substance, form

its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extend that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payment on behalf of the associate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

()

Interest in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes an associate. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities

over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the interest in an

associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

reversal
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POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

()
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Interest in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the
same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/
partial disposal of the relevant associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method
when an investment in an associate becomes
an investment
investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There
remeasurement to fair value upon
changes in ownership interests.

in a joint venture or an

is no
such
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(c) Interest in associates (Continued)
When the Group reduces its ownership interest
in an associate but the Group continues to use
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that

reduction in ownership interest if that gain or

loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on

the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an
associate of the Group, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with associate
are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the

associate that are not related to the Group.

2.4 Separate financial statements

in subsidiaries and associates are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes
direct attributable costs of investment. Cost also
includes capital contribution relating to Equity
Incentive Scheme for investments in subsidiaries. The
results of subsidiaries and associates are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Investments

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.
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POLICIES (Continued)

2.5

2.6

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM"). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as executive directors
of the Group that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings and cash and bank balances are
presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
within “other (losses)/gains, net”.

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a
functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the
rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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POLICIES (Continued)
2.7 Property, plant and equipment

2 FEEHHEMEE)

27 V¥ BERRE

Property, plant and equipment, other than freehold
land, are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses.
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Historical

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be
reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

measured

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation of
property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their costs to their
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residual values over their estimated useful lives, as

follows:

Buildings
g5

Leasehold improvements

52 R AR 4T B T B T
FHEREHRERAS LR
EE - HEMT

2%-4%

2% E4%

Shorter of remaining period of the lease or
useful life of 5 years

HEMERE ME /T BIR s5F /Y AT F A F 5
(AREERE)

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20%

Hh - BERERBAEZRE 20%

Motor vehicles 20%

HE 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are BEZHHEERAUEAFHARS

reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of WEBHKRETRTELAZR(WE

each reporting period. A) e
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

2.9

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
An asset’s carrying amount
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than
recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

is written down

its estimated

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

“Other (losses)/gain, net”

Intangible assets
(a) Computer software
Computer software purchased from vendors are
initially shown at historical cost and
subsequently amortised over their estimated
useful lives, which does not exceed five years.

(b) Club membership
Club membership is amortised over its useful
life of 20 years and is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories and financial assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which it
arises.

recoverable amount is

2

HEETBUREBIE (&F)

29 FEMEEREE)

EEEECREEBRENKRELES
BT ERAMERE - FEHEER
EBER G RARRERENRBR
ERMSAECERRREEBRAR
BERARRIVAMMREIRES
HBRE REBERELEHEES
HEAREMERS KSR P IR
MEEEEBNRRE—ER 2% -

REBESHRFEELTHRBTR
ERRBZBEBERINEFERSE M
B e mng - BIFF AR IRE SR -
EEBETEEANKROSBZMEN
SR EE - TRl B O SE AT B E (B
BERIN) R RERE - HEBOR
ZBBETEERNBEREETFELE
BREEREBREMETEE K
HE R EMTE ##H) - 2R
EEBEZBRERNELBHEFAGH
BRRkEMEa KSR -



2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Recognised financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivable arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL") are recognised in profit or loss.

(a) Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by
both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of
initial application/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of
an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)
A financial asset is classified as held for trading
if:

o it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a
portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that are required to
be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)
(b) Amortised cost and interest income

(c

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
longer

financial instrument

determination that the asset is no

credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other losses, net” line item.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) ECL model
on financial assets which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables and
bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the
expected life of the relevant instrument. In
12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting
period. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions. The Group always recognise
lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

contrast,

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(e)

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023

Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting period with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking
that is available without undue cost or effort.

risk has

initial

information

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(e) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

(f)

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the «criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)
(f) Definition of default (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(i)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(i)  a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(iii) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(iv) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(v)  the disappearance of an active market for

that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(7

Definition of default (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for
example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liguidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of
the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective

determined at initial recognition.

interest rate
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POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(7
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Definition of default (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of each
group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or

loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables and
other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss

allowance account.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers
the
rewards of ownership and continues to control
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated

nor retains substantially all risks and

liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

recognises a

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration

received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as
either as equity in
substance of the

financial liabilities or
accordance with the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of

a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of

direct issue costs.
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POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)
(h) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
liability and of allocating interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including other payables and
accruals, borrowings and lease liabilities) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

2.12

2.13

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial
liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories represented artworks that
opportunistically purchased by the Group and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of purchase of these artworks are determined
after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs necessary

to make the sale.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables represent commission receivables
and related services fees receivables that are due
from buyers and sellers as a result of the auctions
conducted by the Group. Trade receivables also
included those arising from direct artwork sales
conducted by the Group. The Group grants credit
period of 7 days for commission receivables and 30
days for receivables from artwork sales. Receivables
are generally due for settlement within credit periods
granted by the Group and are all classified as
current.

Upon completing the auction, the Group is obliged
to collect from the buyers the hammer price
amounts for artworks sold. Such receivables are
classified as “receivables from buyers in respect of
auction and related business” and due for
settlement within 7 days of recognition according to

the terms of the contracts with the buyers.
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POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Consignor advances are recognised initially at fair
value less allowance for ECL. It represents financing
provided to art collectors prior to their works of art

being auctioned off, secured by works of art.

Other receivables that are realised as part of the
Group’s normal operating cycle are classified as
current assets even when they are not expected to
be realised within 12 months after the reporting
period. The operating cycle of an entity is the time
between the acquisition of assets for processing and

their realisation in the form of cash or

equivalents.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables
with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See note 3.2 for a description of the Group’s

impairment policies.

2.14 Cash and bank balances

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of
cash flows, cash and bank balances includes cash on
hand, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of

changes in value.

2.15 Trade and other payables

Trade payables represent obligations to pay for
services from suppliers in the ordinary course of
business and amounts due to sellers of artworks

purchased by the Group for trading purpose.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15

2.16

Trade and other payables (Continued)

Upon completing the auction, the Group is required
to remit the hammer price amounts for artworks
sold to sellers upon receiving the corresponding
amounts from the buyer and such payables are
classified as “payables to sellers in respect of auction
and related business”. These unpaid balances as at
period end are unsecured and are usually paid
within 35 days upon receiving the hammer price
amount. Trade and other payables are presented as
current liabilities unless payment is not due within
12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings

using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fees are
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fees are
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the end of the reporting period.
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POLICIES (Continued)

2.17

2.18
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Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition,
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to

construction or

the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.18 Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries
when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Income tax (Continued)

2.18 FiE#H (&)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18

2.19

Income tax (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the
relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, resulting from
remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease
modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is more likely than not that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognized
as interest expense.
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POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Provisions and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is
not recognised because it is not probable that
outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of obligation cannot be measured

reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will

then be recognised as a provision.

2.20 Revenue recognition
(a) Commission revenue

The Group earns commission revenue from
both buyer and seller through the auction sales
in which the Group mainly acts as the role of
auctioneer as well as promoting the sales
through professional marketing techniques
provided. The commission revenue is calculated
as a percentage of the hammer price of the
artwork sold at the auction in accordance with
the contracts between the Group and the
buyer and the seller. The Group also recorded
revenue generated from private sales arranged
by the Group on behalf of the consignors. The
Group may act as an agent by matching the
needs of consignors to those of buyers by
private sales. In return, the Group collect
commissions which are determined through
negotiation with both buyers and sellers,
usually representing the difference between the
purchase price paid by the buyers and the
selling price as pre-agreed by the sellers and

the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

(b)

()

Commission revenue (Continued)

The Group’s entitlement to commission income
includes an element of consideration that is
variable or contingent on the outcome of
future events. Actual commission income to be
received is dependent upon, among others, the
completion of transaction between buyers and
sellers; and price concession based on
customary industry practice.

The Group recognised revenue upon
completion of the auction sale as evidenced by
the fall of auctioneer’'s hammer. For private
sales, commission revenue is recognised upon
conclusion of contract with relevant buyer and

seller.

Revenue from other services relating to
auctions

In relation to the auctions organised, the
Group also earns other services income from
catalogue preparation, or insurance charged to
the sellers for artworks in preparation for and
placed in the auctions, and they are recognised
as revenue when the related services are
rendered.

Revenue from artwork sales
Revenue from sale of artworks is recognised
upon transferring control of goods to
customers, which generally coincides with the
time when the goods are delivered to
customers and title has passed.

2.21 Agency income
Agency income are recognised at the fee agreed in
the contract with the customers when the related
services are rendered.
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POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries,
non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick
leave that are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the period
in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The
liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations
statement of financial position.

including

in the consolidated

Pension obligations

The Group participates
contribution
defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods. Employees of the
Group are covered by various government-
sponsored defined contribution pension plans
under which the employees are entitled to a
monthly pension based on certain formulas.
The government agencies are
responsible for the pension liability to these
retired employees. The Group contributes on a
monthly basis to these pension plans. Under
these plans, the Group has no obligation for
beyond the

defined
retirement benefit schemes. A

in several

relevant

post-retirement benefits

contributions made.

The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the statement of financial
position date.

Share-based compensation
The Group operates share option scheme under
which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity
instruments of the Company.

The fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options as at the date of
grant: (i) including any market performance
conditions; (ii) excluding the impact of any
service and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales
growth targets); and (iii) including the impact
of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the
requirement for employees to save or holding
shares for a specified period of time). Non-
market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that
are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the
period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-marketing
vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d) Share-based compensation (Continued)
When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of
any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital.

2.23 Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising
from business combinations on or after the date of
initial application, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

As a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.23 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract (Continued)

As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis
when the Group reasonably expects that the effects
on the financial statements would not differ
materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases properties that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.
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POLICIES (Continued)
2.23 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities other than
adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-
19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease paym